# Techno-Economic Analysis and GHG Emissions' Footprints of Solvent-steambased Bitumen Extraction

by

Mustakimul Hoque

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Mechanical Engineering

University of Alberta

© Mustakimul Hoque, 2023

## Abstract

The oil sands are a critical source of unconventional fossil fuel. The Canadian oil sands are among the world's largest crude oil deposits. Several oil sands extraction techniques have been developed in recent decades, including solvent-steam based bitumen extraction technology, an emerging process that has the potential to replace new greenfield projects. The solvent-steam process is based on the gravity drainage method, in which a mixture of steam and solvent is used to extract bitumen from a reservoir. The oil sands extraction process is an energy intensive process and results in large amount of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. There is a need to develop technologies which can help in the reduction of GHG emissions from oil sands extraction.

In this study, a process simulation model was developed to assess the economics and GHG footprint of the solvent-steam extraction method for a plant established in Alberta, Canada using natural gas and Alberta's grid mix electricity as the sources of energy. A capacity of 25,000 barrels per day of bitumen was considered, with hexane as the solvent. Sensitivity and uncertainty analyses were conducted to observe how the supply cost, energy consumption, and GHG emissions of the solvent-steam process change with changes in input parameters. The supply cost in the base case scenario is CAD 55.5/bbl at a 10% internal rate of return. Capital cost, solvent price, and transportation and blending cost affect the supply cost. The supply cost ranges from CAD 53 to 65.4 per bbl.

The results also showed that energy consumption and associated GHG emissions are 0.92 GJ/bbl and 61.75 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl, respectively. When uncertainty is considered, the energy

consumption and GHG emissions range from 0.7 to 1.2 GJ/bbl and 49.7 to 82.6 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl at a 90% confidence level, respectively. The overall GHG emissions are more sensitive to the steam-to-oil ratio (SOR) and heater efficiency compared to the solvent-to-oil ratio (SvOR) and emission factors. The use of natural gas combined cycle (NGCC) and biomass for producing heat and electrical energy was also assessed in order to explore their potential to reduce the GHG emissions of the process. Natural gas used to produce steam and solvent vapor is the prime contributor (97%) to overall GHG emissions. A less emission-intensive source of energy such as biomass to generate heat could reduce emissions by up to 91%. The findings of this study will assist oil sands industries and government in evaluating the economic and environmental feasibility of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process.

# Preface

This thesis is an original work by Mustakimul Hoque under the supervision of Dr. Amit Kumar. The results from Chapter 2 were presented as: M. Hoque, A.O. Oni, and A. Kumar, "Development of a techno-economic model for the assessment of cost of bitumen using solventsteam extraction technology," at the Canadian Chemical Engineering Conference, Energy Symposium – The Fuels Scenario (Biogas, biodiesel, biorefineries, CCS, strategy for energy transition, algae, fungi, and bacteria) in Vancouver, BC, on October 24, 2022. Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 are expected to be submitted as two separate papers to Applied Energy as: M. Hoque, A.O. Oni, and A. Kumar, "The development of techno-economic models for the assessment of solvent-steam bitumen extraction method" and M. Hoque, A.O. Oni, and A. Kumar, "Evaluating energy consumption and GHG emissions' footprints of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction method." The author was responsible for the concept formulation, model development, data collection and analysis, and manuscript composition. Dr. A.O. Oni assisted with process modeling and data validation and contributed to manuscript edits. Dr. Amit Kumar was the supervisory author and was involved in the concept formulation, assessment of results, and manuscript edits.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank Dr. Amit Kumar for providing his continuous support and mentorship by supervising me throughout my studies, without which this research work would not have been possible to accomplish. Dr. Kumar's inspiration has improved my intellectual potential and allowed my professional as well as personal growth. It has been a privilege to work as a part of Dr. Kumar's well-organized research team.

I would like to acknowledge the NSERC/Cenovus/Alberta Innovates Associate Industrial Research Chair in Energy and Environmental Systems Engineering and the Cenovus Energy Endowed Chair in Environmental Engineering for providing financial support for this project. I am also grateful to the representatives from Cenovus Energy Inc., Suncor Energy Inc., Alberta Innovates Energy and Environment Solutions (AI-EES), and Alberta Innovates Bio Solutions (AI-BIO) for their inputs in various forms. I am also grateful to the Future Energy Systems, a network funding by the Canada First Research Excellence Fund at the University of Alberta for partially supporting my research work.

I would also like to express my gratitude to Dr. A.O. Oni, a research associate in the Department of Mechanical Engineering at the University of Alberta, for providing constant guidance by assisting me with the modeling, reviewing my writings, and providing valuable suggestions. I would like to thank Astrid Blodgett for editing the papers and this thesis.

I am grateful to my family and friends for their continuous encouragement and mental support throughout my MSc program. This thesis would not have been possible without them.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract .	ii
Preface	iv
Acknowle	edgementsv
Table of C	Contentsvi
List of Ta	blesx
List of Fig	guresxi
Abbreviat	ionsxii
Chapter	r 1: Introduction1
1.1	Background1
1.2	Literature review and research gap4
1.3	Research motivations
1.4	Research objective
1.5	Scope and limitation of the thesis7
1.6	Organization of thesis7
Chapter	r 2: The development of techno-economic models for the assessment of the solvent-
steam b	vitumen extraction method9
2.1	Introduction9
2.2	Method

2.2.1 Process description
2.2.2 Solvent selection
2.2.3 Process modeling and simulation17
2.2.4 Techno-economic assessment
2.2.4.1 Capital and operating cost20
2.2.4.2 Scale factor
2.2.4.3 Sensitivity and uncertainty analysis23
2.3 Results25
2.3.1 Material balance25
2.3.2 Techno-economic assessment
2.3.2.1 Capital cost
2.3.2.2 Operating cost
2.3.2.3 Sensitivity and uncertainty analysis
2.3.3 Plant capacity
2.4 Discussion
2.5 Conclusion
Chapter 3: Evaluating energy consumption and GHG emissions' footprints of the solvent
steam bitumen extraction method
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Method

	3.2.1	Solvent selection	43
	3.2.2	Process description	44
	3.2.2	.1 Heating unit	44
	3.2.2	.2 Emulsion lifting	46
	3.2.2	.3 Oil treatment unit	46
	3.2.2	.4 De-oiling unit	47
	3.2.2	.5 Water treatment unit	48
	3.2.2	.6 Vapor recovery unit	48
	3.2.2	.7 Fuel gas unit	48
	3.2.3	Process modeling and simulation	48
	3.2.3	.1 Estimation of electricity and natural gas requirements	50
	3.2.3	.2 Estimation of emissions	50
	3.2.4	GHG emission scenarios	51
	3.2.5	Sensitivity and uncertainty analysis	52
3.	3 Res	sults and discussion	53
	3.3.1	Comparison of GHG emissions from the solvent-steam process using different	ent
	sources	of energy	57
	3.3.2	Sensitivity and uncertainty analyses	58
	3.3.3	Comparison of the environmental impact of the solvent-steam process wa	ith
	other te	chnologies	61

3.4	Conclusion	.62
Chapter	4: Conclusions and recommendations for future work	.64
4.1	Conclusion	.64
4.1	.1 Techno-economic assessment	.65
4.1	.2 Energy consumption and GHG emissions	.67
4.2	Recommendations for future work	.68
References	5	.70
Appendix .		. 89

# List of Tables

Table 1: Model inputs for the simulation of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process18
Table 2: Factors considered in the techno-economic analysis 19
Table 3: Capital cost assumptions 21
Table 4: Assumptions for estimating the total project investment (TPI) 21
Table 5: Operating cost input values 22
Table 6: Operating cost assumptions
Table 7: Input ranges for sensitivity analysis 24
Table 8: Material balance of the solvent-steam extraction process based on developed process
simulation model
Table 9: Breakdown of supply cost of bitumen
Table 10: Model inputs for the simulation of energy consumption and GHG emissions from the
solvent-steam extraction process
Table 11: Input ranges for sensitivity and uncertainty analysis 53
Table 12: Energy consumption and GHG emission of the solvent-steam process (base case) 54
Table 13: Environmental impact of different bitumen extraction processes

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Schematic diagram of the solvent-steam extraction process	15
Figure 2: Morris sensitivity analysis of supply cost	33
Figure 3: Uncertainty analysis of supply cost.	33
Figure 4: Capital and operating cost vs plant capacity	35
Figure 5: Supply cost vs plant capacity	36
Figure 6: Schematic of the steam-solvent process	45
Figure 7: The effect of using different sources of energy in the solvent-steam process	58
Figure 8: Sensitivity analysis of the GHG emissions (base case)	59
Figure 9: Uncertainty analysis of the GHG emissions of the solvent-steam process	60
Figure 10: Breakdown of supply cost of bitumen	66
Figure 11: (a) Electrical and (b) heat energy consumption in different process units	68

# Abbreviations

## Acronyms

API	American Petroleum Institute
BFW	Boiler feed water
cEOR	Cumulative energy-oil ratio
cSOR	Cumulative steam/oil ratio
CSS	Cyclic steam simulation
DOU	De-oiling unit
dilbit	Diluted bitumen
DCF	Discounted cash flow
EM	Electromagnetic
EOR	Enhanced oil recovery
ESP	Electrical submersible pump
ESEIEH	Enhanced solvent extraction incorporating electromagnetic heating
ES-SAGD	Expanding solvent-steam

FCI	Fixed capital investment
FWKO	Free-water knockout
FGU	Fuel gas unit
GHG	Greenhouse gas
GHOST	Greenhouse gas emissions of current oil sands technologies
НТХ	Heat exchanger
HU	Heating unit
HPS	High pressure separator
HCR	Hydrocarbon recovery
IC	Indirect cost
IGF	Induced gas flotation
IRR	Internal rate of return
LF	Location factor
LHV	Lower heating value
NPV	Net present value

NCG	Non-condensable gas
ОТ	Oil treater
OTU	Oil treatment unit
OTSG	Once-through steam generator
RUST	Regression, uncertainty, and sensitivity tool
SvOR	Solvent-to-oil ratio
SAS	Steam-alternating solvent
SAGD	Steam-assisted gravity drainage
SOR	Steam-to-oil ratio
TPS	Three-phase separator
TDIC	Total direct and indirect cost
TIC	Total indirect cost
TPI	Total project investment
TPEC	Total purchased equipment cost
VAPEX	Vapor extraction

VRU	Vapor recovery unit
WLS	Warm lime softening
WTU	Water treatment unit
WTI	West Texas Intermediate
WCS	Western Canadian Select

# Symbols and units

bbl	barrel
bpd	barrel per day
CAD	Canadian dollar
gCO <sub>2</sub> eq	gram CO <sub>2</sub> equivalent
GJ	gigajoule
kg	kilogram
kgCO <sub>2</sub> eq	kilogram CO <sub>2</sub> equivalent
km	kilometer
kPa	kilopascal

kWh	kilowatt-hour
MJ	megajoule
mbpd	million barrels per day
Mt	megatonne
MWh	megawatt-hour
scfd	standard cubic feet per day
m	meter
°C	degree Celsius
%	percentage

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### 1.1 Background

One of the primary sources of global energy production is crude oil. Approximately 100 mbpd of crude oil is produced worldwide, making up one-third of the world's total energy demand [1]. The world may run out of oil from its known supplies in 47 years [2]. Global energy use, moreover, will increase by nearly 50% by 2030 from 2020, mostly as a result of economic growth and population [3]. Excessive energy demand is one of the reasons for the oil industry to focus on unconventional oil resources. A potential solution to satisfy the world's energy demand for decades to come is to make use of the proven unconventional crude reserves of 2130 billion bbl around the globe [4]. Canada has the world's third-largest oil sands reserve. It is forecasted that the production is expected to increase approximately 2.5 mbpd in the next 25 years [5]. In an area of more than 142,000 km<sup>2</sup> combined, Canada's oil sands are mainly found in three regions in Alberta and Saskatchewan: Athabasca, Cold Lake, and Peace River [6]. The oil sands reserve in Alberta is about 160.1 billion bbl, which is the fourth largest in the world after Venezuela, Saudi Arabia, and Iran [7].

Oil sands are a mixture of 80-85% clay, 5-10% water, and 10-18% bitumen [8]. Bitumen is a useful resource containing a mixture of highly viscous complex hydrocarbons [9]. The primary challenge of extracting it is its low mobility in the reservoir condition [10]; its viscosity must be reduced in order to flow it out of the reservoir for processing. Steam and hydrocarbon additives are used to reduce the viscosity of bitumen [10]. Steam assisted gravity drainage (SAGD) is the most established and widely used technology for extracting bitumen [11]. In

SAGD, steam is injected into the reservoir at an elevated pressure to reduce bitumen viscosity [12]. The SAGD process has been commercially applied for heavy oil/bitumen production in Canada over several decades [13].

However, SAGD is limited because of its strong dependence on the bitumen production rate, recovery factor, high energy demand, and associated greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions [13]. The production of steam, used as a source of heat to extract bitumen in the SAGD process [14], involves the consumption of natural gas, which makes the extraction process energy and GHG emission intensive [15]. Earlier work by Nimana et al. showed that the natural gas and electrical energy consumption in SAGD release GHG emissions in the range of 8.0-34.0 gCO<sub>2</sub>eq/MJ (approx. 52-220 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl) of bitumen, and that steam production and electricity generation are the largest contributors to GHG emissions [16]. Moreover, the extracted bitumen needs to be separated and upgraded, which also generates GHG emissions [17]. Increased bitumen production significantly contributes to Alberta's GHG emissions [18]. Oil and gas sector GHG emissions from the extraction and processing of Canadian oil sands are responsible for 174 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl of oil, which is higher than the average North American emissions [19]. Canada's oil sands sector emits 27% of the country's total GHG emissions [20], while Alberta accounts for roughly 39% GHG emissions per year [21].

In order to reduce global warming, reducing GHG emissions is critical. Some regulations have been put in place in oil sands industries to reduce GHG emissions. For example, starting in 2030, the Alberta government will apply a \$30/tonne carbon price to its oil sands facilities to make them carbon competitive and reduce GHG emissions [21]. Canada has initiated a plan to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050 through the implementation of carbon mitigation and other technologies [22]. As a result, renewable or less GHG emission-intensive sources of energy have gained a lot of interest in the last few years.

As mentioned, steam-based oil sands extraction processes use natural gas to produce steam, which is highly GHG emission-intensive [23]. Because of the high energy consumption and GHG emissions, extensive research is underway to reduce the energy use and intensity of GHG emissions from the heavy oil extraction processes [24]. However, there are several limitations to reducing energy use without switching to a less or non-thermal-based process [25].

Several extraction methods have been proposed and are in various stages of development that can potentially offer similar or higher oil production rates at lower GHG emissions than steambased processes. These new methods use solvent, a mixture of steam and solvent, or electromagnetic heating to extract bitumen [10]. For example, vapor extraction (VAPEX) is a thermal solvent process that dilutes the bitumen by injecting vaporized solvents inside the reservoir instead of steam [9]. Experiments by Rezaei et al. showed that superheating the solvent during injection can improve the oil recovery rate in solvent-based extraction processes [26]. The use of  $CO_2$  with steam as an alternative to hydrocarbon solvents in solvent-based processes has also been proven to be cost-effective because solvents cost more [27]. Effective solvent extraction incorporating electromagnetic heating (ESEIEH) technology uses electromagnetic radiation to preheat the reservoir before injecting solvent to facilitate bitumen extraction [28]. Steam and propane are co-injected alternately in the steam-alternating solvent (SAS) process to reduce energy intensity and GHG emissions [29]. Solvents having close thermal properties with water in the reservoir condition are co-injected with steam in the expanding solvent-SAGD (ES-SAGD) process [30].

#### **1.2** Literature review and research gap

The solvent-steam process is an emerging technology based on the method used in SAGD [10]. In the solvent-steam process, a mixture of steam and a suitable hydrocarbon solvent is coinjected into the reservoir to reduce the viscosity of bitumen [30]. The choice of hydrocarbon solvent is crucial because both steam and solvent vapor should have similar thermal properties in the reservoir condition [10]. Steam and solvent vapor should condense simultaneously in the reservoir in order to minimize heat loss and improve bitumen recovery rates [31]. Farouq Ali and Abad used synthetic crude, Mobil solvent, and naphtha to show that the production rate of bitumen depends on the type and concentration of solvent [32]. Experimental studies by Nasr et al. showed that using n-hexane as a solvent increased the oil drainage rate by 50% compared to SAGD [33]. They also proved that almost 95-99% of the injected solvent mixture can be recovered and reinjected, which can promote the economy of the solvent-steam process [33]. Another study showed that mixing steam and solvent to extract bitumen can reduce energy requirements by 11.5% compared to SAGD [34]. Using a mixture of steam and butane ( $C_4$ ) in EnCana's Christina Lake SAGD Project showed a 30% decrease in the overall energy intensity compared to the SAGD process [35]. Steam-alternating solvent (SAS) process reduced energy consumption by almost 47% compared to SAGD [29]. An economic analysis of a 30 meters Athabasca formation indicated that the solvent-steam process is more economical (by 5%) than SAGD [36]. Suranto et al. reduced CO<sub>2</sub> emissions by 9.1% in hybrid steam-solvent injection compared to pure steam-based processes [37].

Most of the available studies on the solvent-steam process focus on the optimum solvent selection, solvent/steam-to-oil ratio, and recovery rate of oil. Moreover, results from

experimental studies on small-scale plants do not represent the accurate performance of a process. None of the available studies performed a bottom-up analysis to evaluate the economic feasibility and environmental footprint of the solvent-steam process. Nor have the parameters which impact the bitumen production cost, energy intensity, and GHG emission intensity of the process been determined. Another concern is that the available results are based on deterministic point estimates. A range of results accounting for the uncertainty associated with the key parameters will enable a more accurate evaluation of the solvent-steam process. Different sources of energy can also be analyzed to optimize the process further. Addressing these research gaps can help the oil sands industry identify potential areas to improve costs and reduce the GHG emissions of the solvent-steam process.

## **1.3** Research motivations

The following statements best outline the factors that motivated this research:

- SAGD is one of the most popular processes for bitumen extraction. However, it requires a huge amount of steam to dilute bitumen in the reservoir, which makes it very energy and GHG emission intensive. A more environmentally sustainable alternative process is required. The solvent-steam process is an emerging oil sands extraction technology with a similar oil production rate and lower energy consumption and GHG emissions than SAGD.
- Most of the available studies on solvent-steam technology focus on process optimization. There is little to no information on the economic and environmental footrpints of the process. No single established model is available in the public domain.

- A bottom-up economic and GHG emission analysis of the process is mandatory to determine the viability of the process in the current oil market.
- Identifying the key parameters that impact the bitument production cost, energy consumption, and GHG emissions is critical to optimize the process.
- An evaluation of supply cost and GHG emissions is necessary for oil industries and policymakers to understand the economic and environmental footprints of the process.

#### 1.4 Research objective

This research aims to assess the solvent-steam bitumen extraction technology in terms of its economic feasibility, energy intensity, and GHG emissions' footprint. The specific objectives are to:

- Develop a process simulation model of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction technology.
- Evaluate the economic feasibility of the produced dilbit by performing techno-economic analysis based on the assumptions and simulation model output.
- Develop a scale factor to understand the variation in the capital cost of the production plant with capacity and to determine the optimum oil production rate for the process.
- Estimate the total energy consumption and associated GHG emissions of the process.
- Assess different energy sources to reduce the energy intensity and related emissions of the process.
- Identify the key parameters that significantly impact dilbit cost, energy consumption, and GHG emissions.

#### **1.5** Scope and limitation of the thesis

This study focuses on the asessment of the economic and environmental footprints of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process. The economic feasibility was evaluated by comparing the estimated dilbit price with current benchmark oil prices. This research does not include a comparative analysis of the calculated costs with established bitumen extraction technologies such as SAGD. Having a model with similar assumptions will enable more accurate comparative results. In the sensitivity and uncertainty analysis, only the most important parameters were considered. The scope and limitations of this study are discussed further in Chapter 2 and Chapter 3.

## **1.6** Organization of thesis

This is a paper-based thesis written in research paper format so that each chapter can be read independently. This results in repetition of some assumptions, data, and results between chapters. The thesis has four chapters as described below.

Chapter 1, Introduction: This chapter describes the background, motivations of the study, research objectives, and scope and limitations of the thesis.

Chapter 2, The development of techno-economic models for the assessment of the solventsteam bitumen extraction method: This chapter focuses on the economic analysis of the solventsteam process by developing a discounted cash flow (DCF) model based on the process simulation. The chapter also includes solvent selection, assumptions, process description, results, and discussion. Sensitivity and uncertainty analysis were performed to determine the key cost parameters. The economic feasibility of the steam-solvent process was also evaluated in relation to the current oil market.

Chapter 3, Evaluating energy consumption and GHG emissions' footprints of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction method: This chapter expands the work done in Chapter 2 by estimating the energy cosumption and corresponding GHG emissions of the solvent-steam process using the developed process simulation model. The chapter includes assumptions, results, and discussion. The parameters with the most impact on GHG emissions were also identified from sensitivity analysis. GHG emissions for different scenarions based on utilization of different sources of energy were compared.

Chapter 4, Conclusions and recommendations: This chapter summarizes the key findings and observations of Chapter 2 and Chapter 3. The chapter also discusses recommendations for future work.

# Chapter 2: The development of techno-economic models for the assessment of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction method

#### 2.1 Introduction

Oil sands production is an essential part of Canada's economy. Oil sands accounted for 83.6% of all oil production in Alberta in the year 2022 and has supported over 400,000 jobs across the country in 2020 [38]. In addition, oil sands projects provide up to \$10 billion in average annual revenue that has helped to pay for roads, schools, and hospitals across Canada [38]. Despite these benefits, the industry has been criticized because it is a large emitter of GHGs. The GHG emission intensities of oil sands extraction range from 99 to 176 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl, depending on the extraction technology [39]. Several design models have been proposed to reduce the GHG emissions associated with oil sands production. Most of the methods investigated in this study could have a high prospect for GHG emissions reduction. However, very little has been done to assess their economic footprint. The economic impact of these proposed methods is an important factor as it can help ascertain their economic feasibility.

Steam or condensable hydrocarbon solvents are used to reduce bitumen viscosity in a reservoir [40]. When these solvents are heated and injected into the reservoir, they transfer heat to the reservoir walls, thus increasing the mobility of bitumen for extraction. Steam is widely used by oil sands practitioners because it efficiently increases yield [41]. Cyclic steam simulation (CSS) and steam-assisted gravity drainage (SAGD) are popular technologies that use steam to extract bitumen from deep reservoirs. CSS uses a single horizontal wellbore through which high-pressure steam injection and oil extraction are done alternately. In SAGD, two horizontal wells

are used for steam injection and oil extraction. Both methods have pitfalls. A large amount of steam is required, leading to high energy consumption, increased operating cost, heat loss to the overburden, and environmental impacts [13, 42]. The energy consumed by SAGD is from 6-14 GJ/m<sup>3</sup> (0.95-2.23 GJ/bbl) of bitumen [43]. Earlier studies also show that the supply cost of bitumen is higher than other equivalents such as West Texas Intermediate (WTI) [44].

Because of the high energy consumed and GHGs emitted by steam-based processes, extensive research has been conducted to improve them. For example, Ashrafi et al. demonstrated that improving heat recovery in SAGD could reduce natural gas consumption and GHG emissions [45]. They found that the overall GHG emissions by SAGD only decreased by 8%. Mojarab et al. worked on improving oil production performance and the thermal efficiency of SAGD in the Athabasca and Cold Lake reservoirs by implementing advanced well configurations [46]. Das investigated oil production under subcooling conditions and low-pressure operation to reduce energy consumption [47]. The co-generation electricity in the SAGD plant is also a common practice to make the extraction process more economical [41]. However, none of these measures will improve SAGD significantly. Thus, alternative oil sands extraction methods that can increase yield and improve environmental friendliness have been proposed. For example, solvent-based bitumen extraction can replace steam with hydrocarbon solvents. Considerably less energy is required to heat solvents than to heat steam [48]. However, the potential for high solvent loss is a major economic concern in solvent-based methods [49]. Electromagnetic heating technology (ESEIEH), another alternative oil sands extraction method, uses a large amount of electricity for heating, and its electromagnetic heating devices are capital-intensive [50].

The solvent-steam extraction process is also an emerging oil sands extraction technology. In this method, steam and solvent are co-injected into the bitumen reservoir to reduce viscosity and enhance production. This process can be seen as a combination of SAGD and a solvent-based process; it was developed to reduce the use of steam, improve bitumen production, and lower GHG emissions. An experimental study conducted by Ayodelle et al. showed that the oil production rate of the steam-solvent process is comparable to SAGD [34]. They also found that the solvent-steam process can reduce energy requirements by 30-40% compared to SAGD. In another study, Li and Mamora showed that the solvent-steam method can deliver a higher oil production rate and oil recovery factor with a lower cumulative steam/oil ratio (cSOR) and cumulative produced oil volume (cEOR) than pure steam injection thermal-based processes [51]. Frauenfeld et al. also showed that the solvent-steam process could recover bitumen at much lower steam-to-oil ratios (SORs) with a reasonable oil recovery rate compared to SAGD [52].

There is no doubt that the increasing carbon tax and environmental regulations are making it imperative for the steam-based processes to reduce the GHG emissions. However, the bitumen produced from this emerging technology must be economically attractive to be competitive in the global market. Most of the information on the solvent-steam is related to the evaluation of process performance using different solvents, optimizing the process, and improving thermal efficiency. There is little information on the economic feasibility of the solvent-steam process. Nasr and Ayodele argued that 95-99% of the injected solvent mixture can be recovered and reinjected, thereby promoting the economics of the solvent-steam process, but they did not include an analysis to justify these numbers [33]. Frauenfeld et al. established that the solvent-steam technology has a comparable cost to conventional SAGD at a lower energy consumption

and higher oil rates based on some common economic assumptions that might not hold in an actual plant scenario [52, 53]. Their studies also discussed the impact of operating parameters such as the SOR and solvent selection on the cumulative bitumen cost from the solvent-steam process through a series of experiments based on a laboratory-scale model of the Athabasca reservoirs. However, experimental results on a small-scale plant do not reflect the economic performance of the process at a commercial scale. To the best of authors' knowledge, none of the studies performed a bottom-up economic analysis to determine the supply cost of bitumen from the solvent-steam process and compared it with the current market price, partly because there is no single established model available. Nor has there been any analysis of the economics based on the plant capacity, operating conditions, and other economic parameters on the supply cost of bitumen from solvent-steam technology.

The solvent-steam extraction method is still in the research and development phase, and a complete economic assessment will help better understand its feasibility in the current oil sands market scenario. This study developed a process simulation model for the steam-solvent extraction method and performed a thorough economic analysis to evaluate its applicability. The supply cost of dilbit from solvent-steam technology was estimated through discounted cash flow (DCF) analysis. Sensitivity and uncertainty analyses were performed to determine the key parameters that affect the cost and production of bitumen. Variations in supply cost from changing the plant capacity were used to identify the optimum production rate of bitumen for a solvent-steam process. This research has the following specific objectives:

• To develop a process simulation model for the solvent-steam bitumen extraction technology.

- To perform quantitative techno-economic analysis and to evaluate the cost of the dilbit produced.
- To identify the key parameters that impact the supply cost of the produced dilbit.
- To develop a scale factor for the solvent-steam extraction process to understand the changes in capital cost with the capacity of production.

### 2.2 Method

#### 2.2.1 Process description

A schematic process diagram of the solvent-steam process is presented in Figure 1. Detailed flowsheets of different process units are provided in Figure A1-A6 of appendix. The solvent-steam extraction process was developed following the gravity drainage technology used in SAGD. Two horizontal wellbores are included to facilitate continuous circulation of the steam-solvent mixture and bitumen, an injection well and a production well. The wells are arranged so that the production well is placed below the injection well. The pressurized steam and solvent vapor mixture at an elevated temperature is injected into the reservoir through the injection well and in contact with the heavily viscous bitumen at the reservoir wall. Vaporized steam and solvent condense after transferring heat and reducing the viscosity of the bitumen as it absorbs the heat. The reservoir starts to expand, and the emulsion (the mixture of bitumen, water, condensed solvent, and other impurities) moves toward the production well by gravity. For a relatively high thermal efficiency, a low liquid level and shorter production time are important as the steam-to-oil ratio (SOR) increases with the heat consumption of the increasing liquid pool in the reservoir [54]. The liquid level inside the chamber can be characterized by the

temperature difference between the injector and the producer end [55]. So, to maintain the liquid level in the reservoir, the emulsion is continuously pumped out of the reservoir through the production well using electric submersible pumps (ESPs). Then the emulsion is sent to the surface facility where it is processed.

At the surface facility, the emulsion enters the oil treatment unit (OTU), where a high-pressure separator (HPS) removes gaseous components from it. After that, it passes through the free-water knockout (FWKO) and the oil treater (OT) to separate the oil from the emulsion. The separated bitumen is mixed with a stream of diluent. Ethylene glycol is used in the heat exchanger to transfer heat from the produced water to the diluent. The blend of bitumen and diluent is called diluted bitumen, or dilbit. The dilbit is transported to the upgrading facilities through pipelines. The liquid solvent-rich mixture from the OT is sent to a hydrocarbon recovery (HCR) heater and then a solvent recovery column to separate the liquid solvent from the residue bitumen in the stream. Make-up solvent is added to the separated solvent and sent to the solvent heater. Non-condensable gases (NCGs) are produced from the top of the OT. The produced water in the OTU is sent to the de-oiling unit (DOU) for further purification.



Figure 1: Schematic diagram of the solvent-steam extraction process.

Produced water entering the DOU is circulated through a series of three phase separators (skim tank, slop tank, and induced gas flotation [IGF]) where the remaining NCGs and suspended solid materials are removed. The de-oiled water from the DOU is sent to the water treatment unit (WTU) where the off gases are separated through further processing. Make-up water is added to the de-oiled water, and the combined stream, known as boiler feed water (BFW), is directed to the heating unit (HU). There is also a vapor recovery unit where vapor is separated from the NCGs and sent back to the WTU. The produced NCGs are sent to the fuel gas unit (FGU). The separated fuel gas can be used as a source of energy for the facility.

Liquid solvent from the OTU and BFW from the DOU enter the solvent heater and the oncethrough heat recovery steam generator (OTSG), respectively. Once the solvent and steam reach a certain temperature and pressure, the steam-solvent mixture is sent to the well-head for further bitumen extraction.

#### 2.2.2 Solvent selection

Choosing a solvent for oil extraction depends on many factors such as reservoir condition, oil production rate, heat loss to the overburden, etc. The solvent-steam process is most effective when the solvent and the steam condense simultaneously when they reach the reservoir wall at the same saturation temperature [30]. The thermal condition of the reservoir is a crucial factor in this case. The solvent does not condense until the mole ratio of the steam and solvent vapor reaches a point where they condense simultaneously [56]. Li et al. showed that the condensation point of the steam and solvent mixture plays an important role in the dilution effects and heat transfer rate to the reservoir [57]. Moreover, they categorized solvents into three groups: light  $(CO_2, propane to octane)$ , medium (naphtha), and heavy  $(C_{16}-C_{20})$  solvents. Lighter solvents

have earlier recovery and less solvent loss, whereas medium and heavier solvents have more solvent loss, which may not be economical. Solvents with condensation points close to water at the reservoir condition should be a better fit for the solvent-steam process. Hexane (C<sub>6</sub>) has a condensation temperature closest to steam in the reservoir condition [33]. Experimental studies conducted by Nasr and Ayodele showed that the highest oil drainage rate is achieved when n-hexane is used as a solvent in the extraction process; the oil drainage rate is almost 50% higher than SAGD's [33]. Manfre Jaimes et al. performed a simulation that shows that using hexane as a solvent in the solvent-steam process significantly improves the cumulative oil production and energy-oil ratio (by 45% and 23%, respectively) [58]. Considering these advantages, hexane was selected in this study as the most suitable solvent for the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process.

#### 2.2.3 Process modeling and simulation

The solvent-steam bitumen extraction method was modeled using Aspen HYSYS (Version 12) and used the Peng-Robinson fluid package to predict the thermophysical properties of the fluid components. For the base case scenario, a simulation model was developed for the solvent-steam process at an oil production rate of 25,000 barrels per day (bpd). Petroleum naphtha with a density of API 65 (45.4 lb/ft<sup>3</sup>) was used as the diluent. Suitable values for the SOR and SvOR were selected based on the experimental studies of Gupta et al. [59] for optimal oil production rates. The extracted emulsion was produced at 176°C and 1600 kPa. The density of the extracted bitumen from the reservoir was assumed to have an API of 8 (63.63 lb/ft<sup>3</sup>) [60]. No loss of ethylene glycol was considered as glycol only transfers heat from the produced water to diluent in a closed loop. All the input values and assumptions considered for the modeling the process

are summarized in Table 1. Make-up solvent and water requirements were taken from material balance data.

Parameter	Value	<b>Remarks/Comments</b>
Steam-to-oil ratio (SOR), m <sup>3</sup> /m <sup>3</sup>	1.8	[59]
Solvent-to oil-ratio (SvOR), m <sup>3</sup> /m <sup>3</sup>	0.9	[59]
Solvent type	Hexane	[33]
Oil production rate, bpd	25,000	[49]
Solvent retention, %	5	[49, 61]
No. of well-pads	4	[62]
Reservoir temperature, °C	10	[63]
Reservoir pressure, kPa	1400	[64]
Heat losses in the reservoir	90%	[65]
Diluent to oil ratio, m <sup>3</sup> /m <sup>3</sup>	0.27	[10, 66]
API	8	[60]

Table 1: Model inputs for the simulation of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process

### 2.2.4 Techno-economic assessment

The techno-economic assessment was performed using the developed process simulation model results and literature data. A plant established in Alberta with a 30-year lifetime is considered. All the currencies are in Canadian dollars (CAD) unless mentioned otherwise. A discounted cash flow (DCF) model was developed from the estimated capital and operating costs to

determine the dilbit supply cost and evaluate the economic performance of the solvent-steam process. The supply cost is the selling price of oil required to compensate for all the expenses at a specific rate of return. In this analysis, the supply cost of bitumen was determined for a 10% internal rate of return (IRR) [44]. A flat 2% inflation rate for different cost components was assumed based on the year-over-year increase in the consumer price index throughout the plant operating life [67]. The assumptions used in the techno-economic analysis of the solvent-steam process are listed in Table 2.

Parameter	Value	Remarks/Comments
Base year	2021	-
Currency	CAD	-
Discount rate	10%	[44]
Inflation rate	2%	[67]
Plant characteristics:	L	
Lifetime	30 years	[49]
Location	Alberta	-
Plant capacity	25,000 bpd of oil	[49]
Plant operating factor	95%	[68]

Table 2: Factors considered in the techno-economic analysis

#### 2.2.4.1 Capital and operating cost

The total capital cost was determined by adding the fixed capital investment (FCI) and the working capital cost. The well-pad and drilling costs for the extraction of bitumen were estimated from industry reports on SAGD projects [43, 69]. These are listed in Table 3. Since the extraction of bitumen from the solvent-steam process follows a similar principle as that used in SAGD, similar unit costs as a function of plant capacity were assumed. However, it was considered the upper bound of the available pricing for well-pair drilling, which makes the capital cost analysis more conservative. The rest of the processing equipment costs were determined using Aspen Process Economic Analyzer (APEA) by equipment sizing and adjusting material selection based on operating conditions. The total project investment (TPI) or total capital cost was estimated based on the assumptions from Peters et al. [70]. These are shown in Table 4. The operating cost refers to the expenses required to keep the plant up and running and comprises direct and indirect costs. The direct costs are listed in Table 5. These costs include utilities, labor, maintenance, transportation, and blending, and are extracted from different sources and available data based on the current market price in Alberta.

Utilities are essential in that they make up for material losses and keep the process going. Utilities refer to the make-up solvent, make-up water, natural gas, and electricity. Based on the assumptions in this study, 5% of the injected solvent is retained in the reservoir during extraction [49, 61]. Energy requirements for the operation of the plant were based on the developed simulation model. This study considered that the produced dilbit will be transported from Edmonton, Alberta to Cushing, Oklahoma. The transportation cost was calculated from the data developed in earlier studies by Sapkota et al. [71] and Verma et al. [72] for the scenario
with no diluent return. Bitumen in its natural state is not suitable to flow through pipelines because of its viscous nature. Diluent (petroleum naphtha) is mixed with the recovered bitumen to facilitate transportation. Indirect costs such as general and administrative costs, plant overhead, depreciation, etc., are based on the assumptions given in Table 6.

Table 3: Capital cost assumptions

Parameter	Value	Remarks/Comments
No. of well-pairs per well-pad	8	[9]
Cost of well-pad, CAD/bbl	4527	[43]
Cost of drilling, mil CAD/well-pair	4.34	[69]
Cost of pipelines, CAD/bbl	2263	[43]

Table 4: Assumptions for estimating the total project investment (TPI) [70]

Parameter	Assumption
Total purchase equipment cost (TPEC)	100% of TPEC
Total installed cost (TIC)	302% of TPEC
Indirect cost (IC)	89% of TPEC
Total direct and indirect cost (TDIC)	TIC + IC
Contingency	20% of TDIC
Fixed capital investment (FCI)	TDIC + contingency
Location factor (LF)	10% of FCI
Total project investment (TPI)	FCI + LF

Table 5: Operating cost input values

Parameter	Value	Remarks/Comments
Water, CAD/bbl	1.25	[73]
Hexane, CAD/kg	1.08	[74]
Glycol, CAD/kg	2.32	[75]
Diluent, CAD/bbl	61.9	[76]
Electricity, CAD/MWh	68.50	[77]
Natural gas, CAD/MWh	12.53	[77]
Average labor wage, CAD/hr	39.89	[78]
Number of operating labors	15	Assumed

# Table 6: Operating cost assumptions [49]

Parameter	Assumption
Plant overhead	70.8% of operating labor + 3.6% of FCI
Maintenance and repairs	6% of FCI
Depreciation	10% of FCI
Laboratory charges	15% of operating labor
Operating charges	0.9% of FCI
Direct supervisory or clerical labor charges	18% of operating labor

#### 2.2.4.2 Scale factor

The relationship between investment cost and plant capacity can be determined by evaluating the scale factor of a plant. The cost-to-capacity method from Tribe and Alpine was used to estimate the scale factor for the solvent-steam extraction process [49, 79]. Costs for a wide range of plant capacities were analyzed. According to the cost-to-capacity method, a scale factor less than unity implies increasing returns to scale whereas a scale factor equal to or greater than unity means constant or decreasing returns to scale. The equipment ratings change as the production capacity changes; thus, the capital cost and the bitumen production cost also change.

# 2.2.4.3 Sensitivity and uncertainty analysis

Sensitivity analysis is important in that it helps determine how changes in input parameters affect the output(s). In the developed DCF model for the base case, the supply cost was determined based on some fixed input data and assumptions that are variable in real life. The costs of equipment, utilities, transportation, etc., are volatile and depend on the economy, plant location, and many other factors. This variation results in uncertainty in the calculated supply cost. The Morris method is used to identify the most sensitive inputs by taking a range of data for the input variables and determining their impact on the output. The sensitivity is realized by showing the relationship between the Morris standard deviation and the mean value to observe changes in different input parameters. For each input parameter, a higher standard deviation refers to non-linearity, and a larger Morris mean represents more impact on the output. The output is highly sensitive to the input parameters that have a high mean on the Morris plot. The Morris plot shows us a qualitative analysis of the key parameters. After identifying the most

sensitive parameters that affect the supply cost, an uncertainty analysis was performed using Monte Carlo simulation for 10,000 iterations. Uniform distributions are assumed for the input parameters. The uncertainty analysis determines the probable range at which the supply cost may vary for a range of input parameters. Table 7 presents the lower and upper bound for each of the input parameters considered. Considering that the solvent-steam technology is still in development phase, values of the input parameters available in the literature vary widely. A  $\pm 30\%$  of the base input values were considered to reflect the most probable ranges found in the literature and market data. Similar ranges can also be found in techno-economic analyses of solvent-based and ESEIEH process by Isabel et al. [49, 50]. The sensitivity and uncertainty analyses were performed using the RUST model developed by Di Lullo et al. [80].

Parameter	Range	Remarks/ Comments
Capital cost, mil CAD	3.97-7.37	-
IRR, %	7-13	[44, 50]
Hexane, CAD/kg	0.75-1.40	[74]
Transportation, CAD/bbl	6.3-11.7	[72]
Make-up water, CAD/m <sup>3</sup>	0.88-1.63	[73]
Electricity, CAD/GJ	13.32-24.74	[77]
Natural gas, CAD/GJ	2.44-4.52	[77]
Labor, CAD/hr	27.92-51.86	[78]
Diluent, CAD/bbl	43.44-80.47	[76]

Table 7: Input ranges for sensitivity analysis

#### 2.3 Results

# 2.3.1 Material balance

Conducting the material balance of a process is important for equipment sizing, identifying and quantifying material losses, monitoring improvements and yield of products, and evaluating economic benefits. The material balance of the solvent-steam process was determined by exploring material flows in and out of every stage. Table 8 provides the overall material balance of the extraction process. The table shows each material input into and out of the process. The process's overall material losses or material used can be determined in this manner. The materials supplied to the process or produced by the process include solvent, boiler feed water (BFW), diluent, natural gas, produced gases, bitumen, and glycol. Increasing these materials' production or use could have a significant economic impact on the process.

Regarding consumption or losses, the need to replace solvent losses is critical to the process. The primary aim of introducing solvents is to reduce GHG emissions; however, losing solvents can be detrimental to the economic sustainability of the process. From the material balance calculations, the total make-up solvent required is 0.1 bbl/bbl, which is 11.5% percent of the input solvent. As mentioned earlier, it was assumed that 5% (0.05 bbl/bbl) solvent is retained in the reservoir. This subject (solvent losses in the reservoir) is not well understood even for solvent extraction processes. Different publications show a wide range of solvent loss in the bitumen reservoir. Toro Monsalve et al. [50] and Safaei et al. [61] reported a 5% solvent loss for a solvent-based bitumen extraction process. A value of 20% solvent retained in the reservoir has been reported in another study for a solvent-based extraction process [81]. Jurinak and Soni studied the co-injection of solvent with steam in a fractured steam flood through a numerical

analysis and found out that although co-injection is feasible, it reduces steam use by half; however, an increase in the oil produced results in 0.3 barrels of solvent to the reservoir [48]. Over 50% of the solvent loss is a result of solvent trapped in the bitumen that cannot be recovered from the oil treatment unit. An attempt to recover these solvents will jeopardize the purity of the solvent, which is maintained at 99.7%.

The BFW needed for extraction is an integral part of the extraction process. It was estimated that the total water to make up for the losses to the reservoir and in the central processing facility is 0.04 m<sup>3</sup>/bbl. The water (steam) losses are primarily through the OTSG blowdown. Although the water blowdown accounts for 8% of the BFW, it represents 67.4% of the overall water losses in the process. Water blowdown is necessary to reduce the amount of recycled total dissolved solids in the BFW and to prolong the life of the boiler (OTSG). The remaining losses are in the reservoir and steam pipes and are negligible. These values are typical for conventional steam-based extraction processes.

The diluent added to the produced bitumen accounts for 27% (by volume) of the dilbit transported through the pipelines. The addition of diluent is necessary to lower the viscosity (to 26.42 cP) of the extracted bitumen to meet pipeline specifications. A SAGD process producing the same quality and amount of bitumen will require 30% diluent to meet pipeline specifications. The required diluent decreases by 3% because of the solvent trapped in the bitumen during separation. Asphaltene precipitation due to solvent extraction in the reservoir could also be an important factor reducing the amount of diluent used. However, this study did not account for the precipitation of asphaltene in the analysis as it will not significantly impact the outcome.

The produced gas and natural gas are used for heating purposes. Mixing these gases for heating is common practice in the conventional steam-based extraction process. The contribution of the produced gas is less than 1%. It is also important to mention that the mixture contains some parts of the solvent that were separated in the vapor recovery unit.

 Table 8: Material balance of the solvent-steam extraction process based on developed process

 simulation model

Material	Input	Output
Solvent, bbl/bbl	0.14	0.13
Boiler feed water, m <sup>3</sup> /bbl	0.35	0.28
Produced gases, scfd/bbl	-	128.4
Natural gas, scfd/bbl	24.1	-
Glycol, bbl/bbl	1.2	1.2
Diluent, bbl/bbl	0.27	-

\*No loss was considered for glycol

# 2.3.2 Techno-economic assessment

In this section, the focus is on understanding the effect of capital and operating costs on bitumen production costs and how integrating solvent into steam-based bitumen extraction influences the production cost. Table 9 presents the solvent-steam extraction technology's cost breakdown (CAPEX and OPEX). The bitumen supply cost was estimated to be CAD 55.5/bbl at a 10% IRR. The capital cost and operating cost were estimated to be CAD 567 million and CAD 257 million per year, respectively.

Table 9: Breakdown of supply cost of bitumen

Parameter	Cost per bbl (CAD/bbl)
Capital costs:	I
Oil treatment unit	0.33
Heating unit	1.18
Well-pads and drilling	2.55
Others	0.62
Operating costs:	I
Labor cost	0.13
Maintenance cost	3.10
Transportation and blending	23.36
Plant overhead, laboratory, and operating charges	2.42
Depreciation	5.16
Utility cost	12.89
General and administrative cost	3.76
Total supply cost	55.50

# 2.3.2.1 Capital cost

The main capital cost components are the well-pads and drilling, which make up over 50% of the total capital cost. Well-pads comprise the well-pairs and are the central area for injecting solvents/steam and producing emulsions (bitumen). Each well-pair is connected to a main header line that leads to a central processing unit, where bitumen is separated. The well-pads are designed to handle high temperatures and high pressures, usually over 180°C and 10,000 psi at their deepest point. The high-quality material needed for the construction of well-pads makes them expensive. Furthermore, the areas needed for a well-pad are usually large, about 5-10 acres; this size requirement also contributes to the high cost of the well-pads. The heating unit is the second most capital-intensive unit and comprises an OTSG and a solvent heater. This unit accounts for 25% of the capital cost. The OTSG is different than a typical boiler; it handles a large volume of water at high pressure and high temperature. Thus, a large surface area to heat and high-quality construction materials, making the OTSG expensive. The OTSG's tubes can be exposed to salt deposition from the produced water in the bitumen reservoir that contains soluble and non-soluble oil/organics and suspended and dissolved solids, as well as the chemicals used in the process. Although the produced water is treated in the water treatment unit, the OTSG is still susceptible to a high amount of salt (generally referred to as the total dissolved solids). Because of this risk, its tubes are designed with good quality material to withstand corrosion. The oil treatment unit accounts for 7% of the capital cost. The major cost components of this unit are the solvent recovery heater and solvent recovery column; they account for 33% and 17.8% of the oil treatment unit capital cost, respectively. This equipment is added for the separation of bitumen or the recovery of solvent. Both pieces of equipment are additional costs to the extraction process that are not part of steam-based extraction processes. However, their contributions are not significant; they account for 6% of the overall capital cost. That said, an increase in the SvOR would increase the size and capital costs of this equipment because of the increase in the solvent flow rate. It is important to note that as the SvOR increases, the SOR must be lowered to achieve the same volume of bitumen. Thus, the cost of the OTSG will decrease as the SvOR increases.

Lastly, the water treatment unit, de-oiling unit, and VR unit have less impact on the supply cost; they account for 7% of the overall capital cost. As reported in an earlier study, Toro Monsalve et al., the costs of these units are generally low [50].

## 2.3.2.2 Operating cost

Operating costs include utilities, labor, and transportation, which are a significant part of the solvent-steam extraction process. They account for 91.6% of the total supply cost. Transportation and blending costs account for 50% of the total operating cost. This cost is from the addition of diluent to bitumen to meet pipeline specifications and transporting dilbit (from Edmonton, Alberta to Cushing, Oklahoma). The high cost of diluent significantly impacts the transportation of bitumen. Diluent accounts for about 60% of the transportation and blending cost. Adding diluent to the produced bitumen increases the volume of transported dilbit, thus increasing the overall transportation cost. As mentioned earlier, diluent accounts for 27% of the transported dilbit. The volume of diluent needed for blending could range from 20% to 50% depending on the bitumen API value and the type of diluent used. For example, an earlier case study shows that about 46% diluent is needed to meet the pipeline specification for a bitumen API value of 7.1 [65]. Literature shows that bitumen with an API of 8.5 requires dilbit with 33% naphtha (by volume) to meet pipeline specifications [60]. The use of natural gas condensate as diluent could make up about 35-40% dilbit by volume [82]. However, it is fair to say that the most common ratio of bitumen to diluent is roughly 28% diluent to 72% bitumen, or one barrel of bitumen requires about 0.39 barrels of diluent [83]. The bitumen API value in this study is 8.2. This value is lower than the value reported in the literature because in earlier work, some solvents were trapped in the bitumen, which increased the API value from 8.2 to 10.2 [60]. The unit cost of diluent is generally high because of many factors such as availability. Currently, aside from conventional diluents such as naphtha, natural gas condensate, etc., affordable products are sourced. Furthermore, in this study, it was pipeline transportation was considered because it is cheaper than railway transportation (Verma et al. [72]). The current analysis shows that if railway transportation of dilbit (with no diluent return) is considered, the new supply cost of dilbit will increase by 18.5%.

Utilities comprise the cost of make-up solvent (hexane), make-up water, natural gas, and electricity. They make up 27% of the operating cost. The make-up solvent accounts for a significant part (21%). Natural gas, electricity, and make-up water account for 5.5%, 1%, and 0.1%, respectively. As mentioned earlier, make-up solvent is a result of losses in the reservoir and the processing facilities. The solvent, hexane, is widely used in many industries such as food processing and pharmaceutical. So, hexane demand is high, which also increases its market price. In addition, the unit cost of hexane is high because pure hexane is expensive to produce as it requires careful distillation to separate it from hydrocarbons with a similar boiling point. Unfortunately, it is the most suitable solvent for solvent-steam bitumen extraction.

The natural gas consumption in the OTSG and HCR heater is another important utility that accounts for 5.5% of the operating cost. This consumption was compared to a steam-based process (SAGD) producing the same amount of bitumen. The solvent-steam process lowers fuel consumption by 25.5% compared to a steam-based process operating with an SOR of 3.0. When the SvOR was lowered from 0.9 to 0.7, natural gas was reduced by 27.5% compared to the SAGD process (with a SOR of 3.0). These results are valuable for decision-making when

considering the environmental impact of the solvent-steam extraction process. Depreciation, maintenance, and overhead charges have little or no impact on the operating cost.

# 2.3.2.3 Sensitivity and uncertainty analysis

Figure 2 shows the sensitivity results using the Morris method. In the Morris plot, parameters with a large Morris mean are sensitive to the output (supply) while those with high standard deviation indicate the interaction effect with one or more parameters. The diluent and capital cost are the most sensitive parameters; they have the highest Morris mean. IRR, transportation cost, hexane, and natural gas are moderately sensitive. Natural gas, make-up water, labor costs, and electricity price have very low means and standard deviations, hence they are less significant to the supply cost and are not considered in the uncertainty analysis.

Figure 3 shows the uncertainty plot of the supply cost. From the analysis, the supply cost of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process ranges from CAD 53.0 to CAD 65.4 per barrel at a 90% confidence level. The range in the uncertainty value is mostly influenced by the diluent cost, capital cost, IRR, and transportation cost.



Figure 2: Morris sensitivity analysis of supply cost.



Figure 3: Uncertainty analysis of supply cost.

#### 2.3.3 Plant capacity

The economics of a production plant may vary significantly depending on its capacity. To find the optimal production rate, variations in the cost components (e.g., capital, operating, and supply costs) of the solvent-steam process was investigated over a wide range of plant capacities (from 5,000 to 85,000 bpd). Figure 4 shows changes in capital and operating cost with changes in plant capacity. As the plant capacity goes up, both the total capital and total operating cost increase. However, the increase in the total operating cost is steeper than in the total capital cost. The total capital cost is higher than the total operating cost for lower capacity plants. For a 55,000 bpd production rate, almost the same values are found for capital and operating cost. As the plant capacity increases, the total operating cost (i.e., for well-heads and pipeline drilling) that are distributed across the dilbit costs, resulting in a higher cost per barrel of oil for a lower production rate. The total operating cost, on the other hand, comprises variable parameters that become dominant as the dilbit production rate increases.

Variations in supply cost with changes in oil production rates from the solvent-steam process are presented in Figure 5. The lowest supply cost was CAD 51.01/bbl at 85,000 bpd and the highest was CAD 75.35/bbl at 5,000 bpd plant capacity. The calculated scale factor for the developed solvent-steam extraction process is 0.80. The supply cost decreases with an increase in plant capacity because the scale factor is less than unity. The drop in supply cost is steeper for plants with lower capacity, and the curve gradually flattens as the plant capacity increases. The considered fixed costs in the economic model are responsible for this trend. From this analysis, it is clear that larger solvent-steam bitumen extraction plants with 25,000 bpd of oil

production or more are economically more viable than smaller capacity plants. A similar trend can be seen for SAGD plants. Depending on the SAGD plant capacity and design, the supply cost can be around US\$10 per barrel [8]. The Hangingstone SAGD Project operators in Alberta propose increasing their plant capacity from 12,000 bpd to 80,000 bpd of oil [84].



Figure 4: Capital and operating cost vs plant capacity.



Figure 5: Supply cost vs plant capacity.

# 2.4 Discussion

In the previous section, the overall cost and the key parameters that affect the supply cost of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction method were discussed. It is also important to discuss the economic performance of the process by comparing the estimated supply cost with that of other established bitumen extraction technologies. Changes in economic performance should be evaluated and compared to steam and solvent-based methods since the solvent-steam process is a combination of both. This will help us understand the feasibility of the solvent-steam process in the current oil market. A report on a greenfield SAGD project showed that the supply cost of bitumen is around CAD 64.62/bbl at a 10% discount rate, including transportation and

blending costs [44]. The cost breakdown of the SAGD supply cost from the report shows that the capital investment is the most significant supply cost component of SAGD. As mentioned before, the OTSG is a cost-intensive part of the steam-based bitumen extraction process. Conventional OTSGs produce steam at 75-80%, which contributes to the high cost of producing steam [85]. SAGD plants use only steam to extract bitumen, so an OTSG with a larger capacity is required, thus increasing capital costs. However, the amount of steam required in the solventsteam process is reduced by using a mixture of steam and solvent, which also lowers the cost of the OTSG and the overall capital cost. To produce 25,000 bpd of oil, the SAGD process requires 110% more steam than the solvent-steam process [43]. Additionally, as the solventsteam method uses less steam during the extraction process, the cost of natural gas required for producing steam is also lower than for SAGD.

The supply cost of dilbit from the solvent-based bitumen extraction process ranges from CAD 48.2 to 63.7 per bbl; the make-up solvent cost makes up the bulk of this (36%) [49]. Solvent loss is a major concern in solvent-based processes. Solvent is expensive and since only solvent is used to extract bitumen, the cost of make-up solvent is high in solvent-based technologies. However, in the solvent-steam process, using a blend of steam and solvent reduces the cost of make-up solvent by nearly 50% compared to the solvent-based process.

The supply cost of the solvent-steam method is competitive with the steam- and solvent-based bitumen extraction technologies discussed above. However, straight-forward comparisons might not be entirely accurate since oil prices vary with oil quality and the oil produced from each process has different compositions. Direct comparison will be more accurate when the costs are evaluated based on identical assumptions and the final products have similar properties after the produced bitumen is upgraded.

It is more appropriate to compare the supply cost with current benchmark oil prices in order to evaluate the profitability of solvent-steam technology in today's oil market. The most commonly used benchmark for oil in Canada is Western Canadian Select (WCS). According to the Canada Energy Regulator, the WCS price in 2021 was USD 52/bbl [77]. At this supply cost, the solvent-steam process seems viable if the produced dilbit is sold at Hardisty (Alberta, Canada). However, in this analysis, pipeline transportation of the produced dilbit to Cushing, Oklahoma was considered. West Texas Intermediate (WTI) is the primary benchmark for buying and selling oil in North America, oil sourced mainly from inland Texas. The WTI oil price in 2021 was USD 64.5/bbl [77]. The oil market uses specific oil compositions to benchmark crude oil prices at different locations. WTI is one of the highest quality oils in the world, with a sulphur content of 0.34% [86]. WCS is the Canada's largest crude oil stream, often regarded as a dilbit stream that primarily consists of non-upgraded bitumen. WCS has a much higher blended sulphur content (3.0-3.5%) [87]. The lower the sulphur content, the easier and less energy intensive the oil is to refine. Hence, the oil price from WCS is sold at a lower price than WTI's. Based on the available historical data, it is safe to assume an approximately 25% discount on the WCS price over WTI [88]. Assuming that the produced oil can be sold at the same discounted price, the dilbit price will be approximately CAD 60/bbl. The estimated supply cost from our analysis seems economically feasible compared to this price. Also, because of the in situ partial upgrading of the recovered oil from solvent-steam technology, the selling price may improve further.

#### 2.5 Conclusion

In this study, a process simulation model was developed for the solvent-steam bitumen extraction technology. A production capacity of 25,000 bpd of bitumen was considered for a plant established in Alberta. Hexane was chosen as the ideal solvent for the process. A technoeconomic model was developed to calculate the supply cost of dilbit and evaluate its economic performance. The estimated supply cost is CAD 55.5/bbl at a 10% IRR. When uncertainty is considered, the supply cost ranges from CAD 53.0 to 65.4 per bbl at a 90% confidence level. The sensitivity analysis shows that the supply cost is most sensitive to the capital investment, diluent cost, transportation and blending cost, and IRR. These parameters were found to be the most important when the economic performance of the process was done. The calculated scale factor is 0.80, which suggests that the project will be more profitable for a larger-scale plant. Compared to current market prices, the estimated supply cost of the solvent-steam extraction process is economically attractive. The solvent-steam process is also cost competitive with currently established technologies and can be considered a replacement for new greenfield projects. This study will help the oil industry and policymakers understand the feasibility of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process in the current oil market.

# Chapter 3: Evaluating energy consumption and GHG emissions' footprints of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction method

# 3.1 Introduction

Oil sands bitumen has very low mobility in the reservoir condition, which makes it challenging to extract [89]. Bitumen extraction processes require considerable energy, mostly from the combustion of natural gas and electricity, resulting in high GHG emissions. The oil sands industry, therefore, is seeking alternative bitumen extraction technologies to lower GHG emissions.

Steam assisted gravity drainage (SAGD) is one of the most popular bitumen extraction technologies [11]. In SAGD, two horizontal wellbores are drilled, one above the other, to facilitate simultaneous steam injection and bitumen extraction. The injected steam comes in contact with the reservoir wall and dilutes the bitumen. The primary source of GHG emissions in the steam-based oil sands extraction process is from the combustion of fossil fuel for steam generation [90]. SAGD has high energy demand and emissions from high water consumption [48]. With the increasing carbon tax and rigid environmental regulations, steam-based bitumen extraction processes such as SAGD are focusing on implementing technologies which can help in reduction of GHG emissions. Orellana et al. estimated that the emissions from the SAGD process in Alberta are in the range of 49 to 102 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl with a median of 68 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl [91]. Reducing GHG emissions to mitigate climate change while meeting the world's energy demand is a significant challenge. In Canada, GHG emissions from the oil and gas industry are projected to reach 233 Mt of CO<sub>2</sub> annually by 2030 [92]. Canada initiated a climate plan to

reduce its GHG emissions to 40-50% by 2030 to achieve a net-zero emissions future by 2050 [92]. So, interest in less energy-intensive oil extraction technologies to reduce the associated environmental impact has been growing steadily. Ashrafi et al. found approximately 8% energy savings and 61,700 tonnes fewer CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent GHG emissions per year could be achieved by reducing the amount of natural gas used in a typical SAGD plant [45]. Nimana et al. showed that the steam-to-oil ratio (SOR) had the most influence on SAGD GHG emissions and that these emissions can be reduced by 33-48% through cogeneration [16]. Some studies have considered the use of renewable energy sources such as solar or nuclear power in oil sands extraction to reduce the environmental impact [93, 94].

Canada's oil sands companies are exploring new extraction technologies that use less energy and cause less GHG emissions [6]. Currently, expanding solvent addition and electromagnetic SAGD are the two leading methods for enhancing bitumen production [95]. The vapor extraction (VAPEX) process uses gravity drainage to recover oil by injecting vaporized hydrocarbon solvent (propane or butane) into the reservoir; this method consumes less energy than SAGD [96]. As a result, the overall environmental impact is significantly reduced since the production of steam is not required for VAPEX [25]. CO<sub>2</sub> injection into the reservoir has also been implemented to improve oil recovery in conventional technologies such as VAPEX or SAGD [97]. In the electromagnetic heating (EM) method, a radio frequency antenna is inserted inside the reservoir to mobilize the bitumen by vaporizing connate water [98]. The Enhanced Solvent Extraction Incorporating Electromagnetic Heating (ESEIEH) method extracts oil using electromagnetic devices and solvents [61]. ESEIEH operates at a lower temperature than SAGD, which is beneficial because it reduces the energy intensity [99]. However, ESEIEH is cost intensive and highly dependent on antenna efficiency and electrical energy [49].

The solvent-steam method is another emerging bitumen extraction technology. A mixture of steam and solvent vapor is used in the solvent-steam process, which reduces the amount of steam required compared to SAGD. Nasr et al. developed the expanding solvent-SAGD (ES-SAGD) method in which solvent with properties close to water is co-injected with steam [100]. The solvent-steam process has the potential to overcome the drawbacks of SAGD by reducing SOR and start-up capital expenses [101]. An experimental study by Frauenfeld et al. showed that the solvent-steam process can achieve a similar bitumen recovery rate at a 40% lower SOR compared to SAGD [36]. Li et al. worked on the optimal solvent selection for the solvent-steam process and showed that the oil recovery factor increases with higher hydrocarbon solvents [31]. Most studies on the solvent-steam process are focused on the oil recovery rate [51], optimum solvent type [102], and associated costs [53]. Ayodelle et al. reduced energy consumption by 11.5% in the solvent-steam process compared to SAGD but did not provide a detailed energy or emission analysis [34].

To the best of the authors' knowledge, there are no studies on the energy consumption and GHG emissions of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction method. A comprehensive analysis of this bitumen extraction method is necessary to understand the energy intensity along with GHG emissions on a commercial scale model. In this study, a process model simulation for the solvent-steam method was developed and the model was used to evaluate the energy consumption and GHG emissions of the process. A sensitivity analysis was also carried out to determine the key parameters that affect the emissions. Alternative sources of energy were also

evaluated to improve environmental performance. This study will help policymakers and the oil sands community to understand the feasibility of solvent-steam bitumen extraction technology from an environmental perspective. The specific objectives of this study are as follows:

- To develop a process model for the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process.
- To evaluate energy consumption and GHG emissions of the process.
- To identify the parameters that significantly impact the energy intensity and GHG emissions.
- To analyze scenarios for reducing the GHG emissions of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction technology.

# 3.2 Method

# 3.2.1 Solvent selection

The recovery of bitumen from the solvent-steam method is greatly influenced by the type and volume of solvent used and the solvent placement [32]. Selecting a suitable hydrocarbon solvent is critical to the production of oil. Redford and McKay showed that oil recovery can be improved by using higher molecular-weight hydrocarbon blends [103], and Liu et al. found that lighter solvents increase heat loss in the reservoir [104]. Ghasemi and Whitson [102] worked on a range of hydrocarbon additives ( $C_5$  to  $C_{12}$ ) in order to identify the optimum solvents for the solvent-steam method. According to their study,  $C_6$ ,  $C_7$ , and  $C_8$  led to higher solvent recovery compared to  $C_5$ ,  $C_{12}$ , and  $C_{15}$ . To reduce heat loss in the reservoir and to enhance the recovery rate of bitumen, the steam and solvent vapor should condense at the same time in the

reservoir [31]. In other words, a solvent with a condensation temperature close to steam should be selected. The thermal condition in the reservoir also plays a vital role here. Experimental studies have shown that using n-hexane ( $C_6$ ) in solvent-steam bitumen extraction can result in a 50% higher oil drainage rate than SAGD [33]. The vaporization temperature of n-hexane is closest to steam in the reservoir condition. In the developed solvent-steam process model, therefore, the n-hexane ( $C_6$ ) was selected as the ideal solvent.

# 3.2.2 Process description

The solvent-steam bitumen extraction method is based on the same gravity drainage principle used in SAGD. Figure 6 shows a detailed schematic of the process. Detailed flowsheets of different process units are presented in Figure A1-A6 of appendix.

#### 3.2.2.1 Heating unit

A steam and solvent vapor mixture is produced in the heating unit before being injected into the reservoir. Two separate heaters are used to heat the solvent and boiler feed water (BFW). The high-pressure solvent (3500 kPa) is sent to the solvent heater where it is vaporized at 226°C. Steam, on the other hand, is produced in a boiler at 5,088 kPa and 265°C using BFW from the water treatment unit (WTU). A conventional drum boiler or once-through steam generator (OTSG) is generally used for generating steam in bitumen extraction processes [17]. In the developed process model, an OTSG for steam production was considered. A series of vapor-liquid separators are used to achieve the desired quality of steam before sending it to the reservoir. Finally, the steam and vapor solvent are mixed at the wellhead and injected into the reservoir for bitumen extraction.



Figure 6: Schematic of the steam-solvent process

#### **3.2.2.2 Emulsion lifting**

Two separate horizontal wellbores are drilled, one above the other, and extend to the bottom of the reservoir. The upper well is called the injection well and the bottom well is known as the producer or production well. The steam and solvent vapor mixture produced in the heating unit at 223°C and 2600 kPa is injected into the reservoir base through the injection well. The mixture expands in the reservoir and comes in contact with the reservoir wall; it then releases heat and condenses while the highly viscous bitumen on the reservoir wall is heated. When the viscosity of the bitumen is low enough, it becomes mobile and drains through the bottom of the reservoir by gravity. During this operation, the reservoir expands with the drainage of bitumen and the liquid pool level near the production well rises. The steam-to-oil ratio (SOR) increases with the heat consumed by the liquid pool, so it is important to maintain the liquid level in the reservoir [54]. Moreover, if the liquid pool level goes above the injection well, it may affect the steam-solvent injection and reduce overall productivity. So it is recommended that the liquid level be kept between the injection and the production well inside the reservoir; this can be monitored by the temperature gap between the two wells [55]. Bitumen, condensed solvent and water, and casing gases (mostly methane) are lifted to the surface through the producer well using electronic submersible pumps (ESPs) installed on each wellhead. The extracted emulsion is then sent to the processing facility to separate the bitumen.

#### 3.2.2.3 Oil treatment unit

In the processing facility, emulsion and casing gases from the producer well first enter the oil treatment unit (OTU) where they are heated to 134°C and passed through a series of three-phase separators (TPSs). A high-pressure separator (HPS) operating at 1000 kPa is used to separate

the liquid and gaseous substances (methane, water, and hexane vapor) from the emulsion. The lighter liquid flows into the free-water knockout (FWKO), where the rag layer is separated from water. The heavier liquid mixture goes to another TPS, the oil treater, where water and offgases are removed. The solvent and bitumen mixture from the oil treater is heated to 230°C in the hydrocarbon recovery (HCR) heater and sent to the HCR column. Here, bitumen is separated from the solvent through several stages of condensation ranging from 132-142 kPa and 76-163°C. Bitumen produced this way is highly viscous and not suitable to flow through pipelines. A diluent is mixed with the separated bitumen in a tank (dilbit storage) that reduces its viscosity to meet pipeline specifications. The blend of diluent and bitumen is referred to as dilbit and is sold or sent to an upgrading facility. The separated impure solvent from the HCR column goes through another TPS known as the solvent treater, where the non-condensable gases (NCGs) are removed. Hexane loss during the overall separation process is around 7%. Finally, make-up solvent is added to the separated solvent to compensate for any solvent loss and sent to the solvent heater in the heating unit. The lighter liquid (mostly water) extracted from the separators in the OTU is directed towards the de-oiling unit for purification.

# 3.2.2.4 De-oiling unit

The separated rag layer from the FWKO is sent to the de-sand tank for the removal of sand particles. The produced water from the OTU, vapor recovery unit (VRU), and de-sand tank is pumped through a series of TPSs – a skim tank, slop tank, and induced gas floatation (IGF) unit – where oil droplets, suspended solids, and off-gases are removed. Water collected at the bottom of the slop tank and IGF is cycled back to the skim tank for further processing. The de-oiled

water produced in this unit is sent to the water treatment unit (WTU) for further treatment. The removed off-gases are sent to the VRU.

### 3.2.2.5 Water treatment unit

De-oiled water from the de-oiling unit enters the water treatment tank, where dissolved minerals (calcium, magnesium, and silica) and any remaining oil droplets are removed by the warm lime softening (WLS) process. BFW is produced by combining recycled BFW, make-up water, and water produced from the WTU and sent to the heating unit.

#### 3.2.2.6 Vapor recovery unit

Off-gases collected from the skim and slop tank are compressed from to 495 kPa. In order to liquefy the water vapor in the off-gas stream, it is cooled to 45°C. The condensed water is separated from the cooled off-gas stream in a TPS, which is further de-oiled by sending it back to the skim tank in the de-oiling unit. The recovered gases are sent to the fuel gas unit.

# 3.2.2.7 Fuel gas unit

The non-condensable gases (NCGs) separated from the OTU and VRU are sent to the fuel gas unit. These produced gases are mixed with natural gas and used as an energy source to power the boilers and other heating equipment.

### **3.2.3** Process modeling and simulation

The solvent-steam bitumen extraction process model was simulated using Aspen HYSYS V12<sup>®</sup>. The Peng-Robinson equation of state was used for the fluid package. According to the

simulation data, the volume of extracted emulsion from the reservoir is 3.7 bbl per bbl of bitumen. In order to meet pipeline specifications for transporting bitumen, diluent (petroleum naphtha) is used to elevate the bitumen density to API 19 (56.88 lb/ft<sup>3</sup>) [105]. The lower heating value (LHV) of natural gas was considered in our calculations. Important assumptions and input data considered for the base case model are listed in Table 10.

Table 10: Model inputs for the simulation of energy consumption and GHG emissions from the solvent-steam extraction process

Parameter	Value	Remarks/Comments
Oil production rate, bpd	25,000	[49]
Steam-to-oil ratio (SOR)	1.8	[59]
Solvent-to-oil ratio (SvOR)	0.9	[59]
Solvent type	Hexane (C <sub>6</sub> )	[33]
Reservoir temperature, °C	100	[63]
Reservoir pressure, kPa	1400	[64]
Heat losses in the reservoir, %	90	[106]
Diluent-to-oil ratio, m <sup>3</sup> /m <sup>3</sup>	0.27	[10, 66]
Heater efficiency, %	80	[107]
Biomass boiler efficiency, %	92	[106]
Lower heating value (LHV) of natural gas, MJ/kg	46.22	[108]
LHV of biomass, MJ/kg	17.6	[109]
Emission factors:		
Natural gas (NG), kgCO <sub>2</sub> eq/GJ	55.78	[23]

Parameter	Value	Remarks/Comments
NG upstream, kgCO <sub>2</sub> eq/GJ	8.88	[110]
Electricity (Alberta grid), gCO <sub>2</sub> eq/kWh	544	[23]
Natural gas combined cycle, kgCO2eq/MWh	367	[111]
Biomass <sup>a</sup> , kgCO <sub>2</sub> eq/GJ	5.63	[23]

<sup>a</sup> This value corresponds to the emissions during chopping, cropping, and transportation of feedstock to the power plant

### 3.2.3.1 Estimation of electricity and natural gas requirements

The amount of electrical energy consumed to operate pumps, compressors, air blowers, and other equipment was calculated from the simulation model results. The total natural gas consumption was calculated based on Equation 1 from Farzaneh-Gord et al.'s study [112].

Natural gas flow rate (kg/hr)

 $= \frac{Total \ duty \ (MJ/h)}{Heater \ efficiency \ \times \ LHV \ of \ natural \ gas \ (MJ/kg)}$ 

#### 3.2.3.2 Estimation of emissions

The GHG emissions of the process due to the energy consumption were calculated using Equations 3 (from Cóndor et al. and Akagi et al. [113, 114]) and 4 (from Spork et al.) [115].

(1)

Emission factor of heat source (kgC02eq/GJ) × = <u>Heat energy consumption (GJ/hr)</u> <u>Bitumen flow rate (bbl/hr)</u>

$$Emissions from electrical equipment (kgCO2eq/bbl)$$
(4)  
$$= \frac{Emission factor of electricity source (kgCO2eq/kWh) \times Electricity consumption(kW)}{Bitumen flow rate (bbl/hr)}$$

All the GHG emission factors considered in this study are listed in Table 10. The total GHG emissions were calculated by adding the total GHG emissions from heat and electrical energy consumption.

# 3.2.4 GHG emission scenarios

In this study, a base case and 2 other scenarios were considered and the GHG emissions of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process was analyzed. The GHG emissions in each scenario were evaluated and compared.

For the base case, the electrical energy required to operate the process equipment was met by using current Alberta grid mix electricity. Natural gas and coal-fired plants are used to generate 89% of Alberta's electricity and are responsible for its high emission factor [116]. Natural gas was considered as the source of fuel for the heaters. Energy consumption in different unit operations was investigated to determine the key contributor to the overall GHG emissions.

(3)

In scenario 1, a natural gas combined cycle (NGCC) power plant was considered for meeting the electricity and heat requirements of the solvent-steam process. NGCC plants have higher efficiency (up to 63%) than a typical coal or simple gas turbine power plant, which can potentially reduce the overall GHG emissions of the process [117].

In scenario 2, biomass-generated heat was used as the source of heat and electrical energy. About 67% of the produced biomass energy in Canada is used by different process industries (such as the pulp and paper industry) [118]. Energy generated from biomass plants is cleaner and has low carbon emissions overall life cycle, which may be a possible solution for reducing the GHG emissions of the overall bitumen extraction process [118]. Biomass is considered nearly carbon neutral as the amount of carbon emitted during its combustion is nearly the same as the amount of carbon taken up by the plants or trees during its growth.

#### 3.2.5 Sensitivity and uncertainty analysis

Sensitivity analysis helps to evaluate the uncertainty in the output due to variations in inputs. In order to investigate the parameters that are most sensitive to the total GHG emissions in the solvent-steam model, sensitivity analysis based on the input ranges listed in Table 11 was performed. The Morris method was used to determine the mean and standard deviation, from the most sensitive input parameters were identified. A higher standard deviation indicates a non-linear relationship between input and output, and a higher Morris mean value signifies greater impact on the output. For uncertainty analysis, an Aspen HYSYS case study was used to generate the output values based on the most sensitive inputs. The sensitivity analysis was carried out using the RUST tool developed by our research group colleagues [80].

Table 11: Input ranges for sensitivity and uncertainty analysis

Parameters	Ranges	<b>Remarks/Comments</b>
Steam-to-oil ratio (SOR)	1.5-2.2	[59]
Solvent-to-oil ratio (SvOR)	0.6-1.2	[59]
Boiler efficiency, %	70-90	[119]
NG upstream emission factor, kgCO2eq/GJ	7.9-17.8	[120]
Electricity emission factor, kgCO2eq/kWh	372-701	[61]

# 3.3 Results and discussion

Energy analysis provides the energy requirement in each component and estimates the GHG emissions in different sections of a process. The electrical and heat energy consumed in the different units of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process and the associated GHG emissions per bbl of oil production for the base case are shown in Table 12. The total energy consumption and corresponding GHG emissions of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process are 0.92 GJ/bbl and 61.74 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl, respectively. Heat energy plays an important role; it is responsible for 97% and 93% of the overall energy consumption and GHG emissions, respectively.

Process unit	Heat energy	Electrical energy	Total emissions
	(MJ/bbl)	(MJ/bbl)	(kgCO2eq/bbl)
Heating unit	795	6.12	52.33
Emulsion lifting	-	12.66	1.91
Oil treatment unit	97.2	6.76	7.30
De-oiling unit	-	0.64	0.1
Vapor recovery unit	-	0.08	0.01
Water treatment unit	-	0.59	0.09
Total	892.2	26.85	61.74

Table 12: Energy consumption and GHG emission of the solvent-steam process (base case)

The heating unit, where steam and solvent vapor are produced at high pressure before being injected into the reservoir, is the most energy-intensive section of the solvent-steam process; 87% of the total energy is consumed there. Around 23% of the total electricity is used by centrifugal pumps that increase the pressure of the water and solvent in the heating unit. The OTSG and the solvent heater, the two main components of the heating unit, require heat energy. Natural gas is used to generate heat energy in our base case model. Around 89% of the total natural gas is consumed in the heating unit. The OTSG used to produce steam is the most energy-intensive equipment; it has an estimated power rating of 215 MW and is responsible for 80% and 93.5% of the overall energy consumption and GHG emissions, respectively. The OTSG accounts for 93.4% of the total energy consumed in the heating unit. The efficiency of the OTSG is also an important factor. A typical OTSG can produce steam at a quality of 75-

80%, which also contributes to its higher energy requirement [85]. The OTSG is operated a bit differently than conventional boilers. It is designed to operate with low quality feed water because of the WLS process, which makes its application ideal for oil sands projects [121]. Improving the efficiency of the OTSG will reduce energy consumption. On the other hand, the power rating of the solvent heater for producing solvent vapor is 15 MW; it shares only 6% and 6.6% of the total energy consumption and GHG emissions, respectively.

The solvent-to-oil ratio (SvOR), type of solvent used, reservoir properties, etc., may impact the energy consumed in the solvent heater. Selecting appropriate values for the SvOR and SOR is important to achieve better energy efficiency and, with that, an improved oil production rate. Lowering these ratios, however, will lower the energy consumption at the expense of reduced oil recovery. For the same bitumen production rate, increasing the SvOR will lower the SOR and vice versa. As mentioned, steam and solvent should be injected at a specific temperature and pressure so that they condense in the reservoir at the same time. Otherwise, the heat transfer to the reservoir wall will not be uniform, thus increasing energy consumption and reducing bitumen yield [100]. It is also important to maintain the liquid level between the injector and the producer well [122]. A higher liquid level might increase heat loss and decrease productivity, which would lead to higher energy consumption. Gas content in the reservoir can also affect solvent retention and heat transfer rate. Heat and mass transfer in the reservoir should be carefully optimized since they have a significant impact on the energy efficiency and oil production rate [54].

The emulsion is lifted with the ESPs installed on each wellhead. 32 ESPs were considered, each with a power rating of 114.5 kW. They are the most electrical energy-intensive units,

accounting for 47% of the overall electricity consumption. Electrical energy consumption during lifting will vary depending on the viscosity of the emulsion. A higher emulsion density will increase the power ratings of the pumps.

The oil treatment unit is responsible for 98.8% and 97.3% of the overall energy use and GHG emissions, respectively. This unit is where bitumen, solvent, water, and NCGs are separated from the emulsion. Solvent separation is the most energy-intensive process in the oil treatment unit. The most important components in the solvent separation process are the HCR heater and the solvent distillation column. The HCR heater is operated using natural gas and consumes the majority (92.3%) of energy used in the oil treatment unit. It is responsible for 11% of the overall natural gas consumption. Because of this consumption, the HCR heater is emission-intensive; about 84% of the GHG emissions in the oil treatment unit are from the HCR heater. The obtained hexane purity after the extraction of solvent in the distillation column is 99.7%. Another round of solvent separation is required to increase the purity of the hexane. This is not feasible, however, given the energy and emission intensity of the HCR heater. Thus, dissolved hexane in the separated bitumen is an economic loss; however, this might be beneficial because of its partial upgrading effect on the produced bitumen. The oil treatment unit is responsible for 25.2% of the total electrical energy consumption. This electricity is mostly shared by centrifugal pumps and air blowers at different stages of the oil treatment process. Only 14% of GHG emissions in the oil treatment unit are from electricity consumption.

The fuel gas is separated from the produced gases in the fuel gas unit. Fuel gas is mainly composed of methane (96.2 mol%). Mixing fuel gas with natural gas as a source of energy to operate the heaters/boilers is a common practice in oil extraction plants and also reduces the

56
overall natural gas requirement of the process. Of course, the amount of produced fuel gas largely depends on the type of reservoir and its gas content. The other units such as the deoiling unit, vapor recovery unit, and water treatment unit are not energy intensive and together share only around 5% of the total electrical energy consumption.

# **3.3.1** Comparison of GHG emissions from the solvent-steam process using different sources of energy

Figure 7 shows how the overall GHG emissions of the base case compares with the other considered solvent-steam bitumen extraction process scenarios. The base case results show that heat produced with natural gas contributes 93% to the total GHG emissions. In scenario 1, electrical and heat energy from an NGCC power plant is considered. It lowers GHG emissions by only 2% compared to the base case. In scenario 2, biomass is considered for heat and power production. Biomass is a widely available renewable source of energy with a low emission factor compared to fossil fuels [23]. Biomass could be a suitable alternative to natural gas; biomass-generated heat reduces GHG emissions by 85%. When biomass is used to generate both heat and power, GHG emissions are reduced by 91%. The amount of biomass required to meet the heat and electricity demand is 55.3 kg/bbl.

An alternative source of electrical energy with low environmental impact might not significantly improve the solvent-steam process, given that it is partly a steam-based technology in which fossil fuel meets most of the energy requirements. Instead, selecting a cleaner source of energy such as biomass to generate heat for steam production will be more beneficial for GHG emissions reduction. That said, biomass is relatively expensive, has a low conversion efficiency (up to 45%), and also has adverse impacts on the environment (deforestation) [123].

These factors must be taken into consideration. Biomass plants also require considerable space, which might not be an issue since oil sands plants are usually established in locations with large open areas [124]. However, the availability of the raw material may be a concern for biomass-based plants.



Figure 7: The effect of using different sources of energy in the solvent-steam process

#### 3.3.2 Sensitivity and uncertainty analyses

The sensitivity analysis of the GHG emissions is presented through the Morris plot in Figure 8. The GHG emissions of the solvent-steam process are sensitive to the steam-to-oil ratio (SOR) and heater efficiency. The plot shows that these parameters have largest mean and standard deviation, which makes them the most sensitive. The natural gas upstream emission factor, solvent-to-oil ratio (SvOR), and electricity emission factor are moderately sensitive to GHG emissions.



Figure 8: Sensitivity analysis of the GHG emissions (base case)

Figure 9 shows the uncertainty analysis of the base case and the considered scenarios by plotting the distribution frequency of the GHG emission values. The bottom and the top error bars show the 5<sup>th</sup> and 95<sup>th</sup> percentiles, whereas the bottom and the top of the boxes show the 25<sup>th</sup> and 75<sup>th</sup> percentiles of the GHG emissions. For the base case, the probability ranges in the GHG emissions are from 49.68 to 82.61 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl. In scenarios 1 and 2, the GHG emissions range

from 45.65 to 77.12 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl and 3.94 to 6.64 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl, respectively. The GHG emissions distributions show that base case and scenario 1 have the highest and scenario 2 has the lowest GHG emissions intensity. However, between the base case and scenario 1, it is difficult to decide which offers lower GHG emissions since their error bars overlap. The evaluated range of GHG emissions values from the uncertainty analysis provides more realistic insight into the overall environmental performance and feasibility of the solvent-steam process compared to other technologies.



Figure 9: Uncertainty analysis of the GHG emissions of the solvent-steam process

# **3.3.3** Comparison of the environmental impact of the solvent-steam process with other technologies

It is important to understand how the overall environmental impact of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process compares with the other currently established oil extraction technologies. Table 13 shows the range of GHG emissions of some popular bitumen extraction processes using different sources of energy. While using natural gas and Alberta grid electricity, the solvent-steam process in this study has significantly lower emissions than SAGD and CSS, respectively. However, VAPEX generates lower GHG emissions than the solvent-steam process since it requires no steam and consumes less energy. Similarly, ESEIEH does not require steam and thus has lower GHG emissions than the solvent-steam process. On the other hand, using biomass-generated electricity and heat in the solvent-steam process results in considerably lower GHG emissions than ESEIEH. The GHG emissions from the different energy sources listed in Table 13 show that the GHG emissions' range from the solvent-steam process is comparable that of with other bitumen extraction technologies. However, straightforward comparison at this level of analysis might not be entirely feasible. Energy consumption and GHG emissions of the bitumen extraction process are greatly impacted by the reservoir condition, API gravity, asphaltene content, considered assumptions, and other factors. A more accurate comparative analysis might be achieved when the final products have similar properties after upgrading or refining.

Extraction	Type of used energy	Emissions	Reference
process		(kgCO2eq/bbl)	
Solvent-	Natural gas heat and Alberta grid electricity	49.7-82.61	
steam	NGCC heat and electricity	45.7-77.12	Present
	Biomass-generated heat and electricity	3.94-6.64	work
SAGD	Natural gas heat and Alberta grid electricity	61.0-220.0	[16]
CSS	Natural gas heat and Alberta grid electricity	61.0-109.0	[91]
ESEIEH	Alberta grid electricity	56.0-75.0	[61]
	Biomass-generated electricity	9.96-13.1	[61]
VAPEX	Natural gas heat and Alberta grid electricity	24.8-29.1	[25]

Table 13: Environmental impact of different bitumen extraction processes

#### 3.4 Conclusion

In this study, a detailed process model of solvent-steam bitumen extraction technology was developed. Natural gas and the current Alberta grid mix electricity were the two major sources of energy considered for the base case model. For a production capacity of 25,000 bpd, the total energy consumption was 0.92 GJ/bbl and the resulting GHG emissions were 61.75 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl. When uncertainty is considered, the energy consumed and GHG emissions range from 0.7 to 1.2 GJ/bbl and 49.7 to 82.6 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl, respectively. The sensitivity analysis showed that GHG emissions overall are highly sensitive to the steam-to-oil ratio (SOR) and heater efficiency. These parameters should be carefully evaluated in order to improve process performance. Heating units accounted for 87% and 85% of the overall energy consumption and

GHG emissions, respectively. Heat energy produced from natural gas was responsible for 93% of the total GHG emissions. The use of a natural gas combined cycle and biomass as energy sources lowered GHG emissions by 2% and 91%, respectively, compared to the base case. The results of this study show that the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process is environmentally viable and has the potential to replace new greenfield projects. This analysis will also help policymakers and design engineers in oil sands industries understand the environmental feasibility of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process.

### **Chapter 4: Conclusions and recommendations for future work**

#### 4.1 Conclusion

This thesis presented the results of a techno-economic analysis as well as the energy comsumption and GHG emissions' footprint of the solvent-steam bitumen extraction technology. The objective was to evaluate the economic and environmental performance of the solvent-steam process in order to assist policymakers, industry, and government in formulating policies and making informed decisions. First, a process model simulation was developed in Aspen HYSYS V12<sup>®</sup> for a plant in Alberta producing 25,000 bpd of bitumen over a 30-year lifespan. Hexane was selected as the most suitable hydrocarbon solvent for the process since its condensation temperature is closest to steam. A comprehensive techno-economic model was created to investigate the capital investment and operating costs based on the results from the process simulation and some assumptions. The supply cost of bitumen and economies of scale were evaluated through a discounted cash flow analysis. A Morris plot was used to perform a sensitivity analysis for a range of input values to identify the parameters that most impact the supply cost of bitumen. The most sensitive parameters were used to conduct uncertainty analysis through a Monte Carlo simuation to calculate the range in supply cost. The estimated supply cost of bitumen was then compared with benchnmark prices to understand the economic feasibility of the solvent-steam process.

This study also included an evaluation of energy consumption and the GHG emissions footprint. Natural gas and Alberta-grid electricity were the primary energy sources for operating the boilers and electrical equipment, respectively, in the base case model. In the other scenarios,

natural gas combined cycle (NGCC) and biomass-generated heat and electricity were investigated. Associated GHG emissions were calculated to determine the environmental impact of the process. The key parameters that affect the overall GHG emissions were identified through a sensitivity analysis for a range of input parameters. The range of GHG emission values was determined through uncertainty analysis. Finally, the GHG emissions from the solvent-steam process were compared with currently established technologies to determine its environmental feasibility.

#### 4.1.1 Techno-economic assessment

The results from the techno-economic model show that the bitumen supply cost is CAD 55.5/bbl at 10% IRR. Figure 10 shows the breakdown of supply cost. Transportation and blending cost accounted for 50% of the total operating and 42% of the total supply cost. The cost of adding diluent to bitumen to meet pipeline specifications made up a significant portion (60%) of the transportation and blending cost. Transporting dilbit by rail will increase the overall supply cost of bitumen by 18.5%. Well-pads and drilling make up more than half the capital investment. The most cost-intensive equipment is the OTSG, used for producing steam; it makes up 25% of the capital cost. As a mixture of steam and solvent is used to extract bitumen, less steam is required for the solvent-steam process than for SAGD. Almost 99.7% hexane was recovered from the emulsion at the end of the separation process. The sensitivity analysis results show that capital investment, diluent cost, transportation and blending cost, and IRR have the greatest impact on the supply cost. For a 30% change in the capital cost, the supply cost changes by around 7%; capital cost is the most sensitive input parameter according to the Morris plot. Similarly, for a 30% change in the diluent, hexane, and transportation cost, the

supply cost changes by nearly 6.5%, 4.9%, and 3.8%, respectively. Uncertainty analysis shows more realistic supply cost values of CAD 53-65.40 per barrel at a 90% confidence level. The calculated scale factor was 0.8, which proves that the project would be economically more profitable with increasing plant capacity due to the benefits of the economy of scale. The supply cost per barrel reduces from CAD 75.35 to 51.01 as the bitumen production rate increases from 5,000 to 85,000 bpd. Compared to benchmark prices such as WTI and WCS, the estimated supply cost of bitumen from the solvent-steam process is economically competitive.



Figure 10: Breakdown of supply cost of bitumen

#### 4.1.2 Energy consumption and GHG emissions

The results from the solvent-steam process model show that the total energy consumption is 0.921 GJ/bbl and associated GHG emissions are 61.75 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl while using natural gasgenerated heat and Alberta grid electricty (base case). The heating unit involved the production of steam and vapor solvent. It is the most energy-intensive section and accounted for 87% and 85% of the overall energy consumption and GHG emissions, respectively. The OTSG, used to produce steam, was the most energy-intensive equipment and accounted for 80% of the total energy consumption. Natural gas is the most important source of energy; it is responsible for 97% of the total energy consumption. The OTSG, solvent heater, and HCR heater are the only three pieces of equipment that consumed natural gas and did so at a rate of 742.92, 52.13, and 97.15 MJ/bbl, respectively. Electrical energy incurs only 7% of the overall GHG emissions. Almost 47% of the total electrical energy is consumption in the ESPs during emulsion lifting. Figure 11 shows the electrical and heat energy consumption in different process units.

According to the sensitivity analysis of the base case model, the solvent-to-oil ratio (SOR) and heater efficiency have the most impact on the overall GHG emissions. For a 12.5% change in the heater efficiency, the GHG emissions vary by up to 9.5%. In the other considered scenarios – natural gas combined cycle (scenario 1) and biomass-generated heat and electricity (scenario 2) – the total GHG emissions are 60.41 and 5.17 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl, respectively. An almost 92% lower GHG emission value compared to the base case was achieved when heat and electrical energy from biomass was considered. The uncertainty analysis measured a realistic range of emission values between 49.7 and 82.6 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl at a 90% confidence level for the base case. For scenarios 1 and 2, the GHG emission values ranged from 45.65 to 77.12 and 3.94 to

6.64 kgCO<sub>2</sub>eq/bbl, respectively. The solvent-steam process has significantly lower emissions than SAGD and CSS, which indicates its environmental viability.



Figure 11: (a) Electrical and (b) heat energy consumption in different process units

The results from this study show that the solvent-steam bitumen extraction process is feasible from both economic and environmental points of view. Based on the current oil market, the supply cost and GHG emissions are also competitive. The solvent-steam process has the potential to replace new greenfield projects.

## 4.2 Recommendations for future work

This thesis presents a techno-economic analysis and GHG emissions' footprints of the solventsteam bitumen extraction technology. Some key recommendations for future work are as follows:

- The economics of the solvent-steam process was only compared with benchmark oil prices. A detailed comparison of costs with other currently established bitumen extraction technologies will provide a better understanding of the economic standpoint of the solvent-steam process. A single model based on similar assumptions and compositions of the end product is required for accurate comparative analysis.
- The process equipment costs were calculated from the simulation software and published sources. Real-time cost data can be used from industry and existing projects and compared with the theoretical results.
- For a more accurate comparison with other technologies, the associated costs, and GHG emissions of upgrading and refining the produced dilbit can also be included in the a follow up study.
- A cost evaluation of all the scenarios considering different energy sources can be presented to identify the most suitable scenario based on the economic and environmental impacts of the process.
- The model presented is based on conservative input distributions. Data from industry and existing projects would reduce the uncertainty in input distributions and improve the accuracy of the results.
- Given the lack of data, the current study did not include GHG emissions from infrastructure construction and land use. Although these GHG emissions are meant to be minimal, they should be included in the system boundaries to study their effects.
- Renewable sources of energy such as geothermal, nuclear, wind, hydro, solar, etc., can also be considered to generate electricity and heat for bitumen extraction and processing.

### References

- [1] Finley M. The oil market to 2030--implications for investment and policy. 2012.
  Economics of Energy & Environmental Policy 1. https://doi.org/10.5547/2160-5890.1.1.4.
- [2] Lorenz A. Fairplanet. When will we run out of fossil fuels? Available: https://www.fairplanet.org/story/when-will-we-run-out-of-fossilfuels/#:~:text=Global%20consumption%20of%20oil%20is,reserves%20in%20about% 2047%20years. [Accessed: June 2023].
- U.S. Energy Information Administration. International Energy Outlook. Available: https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/ieo/introduction/sub-topic-01.php. [Accessed: April 2023].
- [4] Jaffe AM, Medlock III KB, Soligo R. The status of world oil reserves: conventional and unconventional resources in the future supply mix. 2011. https://scholarship.rice.edu/bitstream/handle/1911/91351/EF-pub-WorldOilReserves-101911.pdf?sequence=1.
- [5] Government of Canada. What are the oil sands? Available: https://naturalresources.canada.ca/our-natural-resources/energy-sources-distribution/fossilfuels/crude-oil/what-are-oil-sands/18089. [Accessed: March 2022].
- [6] Canada's Oil & Natural Gas Producers. What are the oil sands? Available: https://www.capp.ca/oil/what-are-the-oil-sands/. [Accessed: April 2023].
- [7] Government of Alberta. Oil sands facts and statistics. Available: https://www.alberta.ca/oil-sands-facts-and-

statistics.aspx#:~:text=Alberta's%20oil%20sands%20has%20the,day%20(bpd)%20in %202021. [Accessed: 2023 March].

- [8] Giacchetta G, Leporini M, Marchetti B. Economic and environmental analysis of a Steam Assisted Gravity Drainage (SAGD) facility for oil recovery from Canadian oil sands. 2015. Applied Energy 142:1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2014.12.057.
- [9] Nenniger JE, Dunn SG. How fast is solvent based gravity drainage? 2008. Canadian International Petroleum Conference All Days. https://doi.org/10.2118/2008-139.
- [10] Ardali M, Barrufet MA, Mamora DD, Qiu F. A critical review of hybrid steam-solvent processes to recover heavy oil. 2012. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. https://doi.org/10.2118/159257-MS.
- [11] Donnelly JK. The best process for cold lake: CSS vs. SAGD. 2000. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 39(08). https://doi.org/10.2118/00-08-tn.
- [12] Gu H, Cheng L, Huang S, Li B, Shen F, Fang W, et al. Steam injection for heavy oil recovery: Modeling of wellbore heat efficiency and analysis of steam injection performance. 2015. Energy Conversion and Management 97:166-77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2015.03.057.
- [13] Miura K, Wang J. An analytical model to predict cumulative steam/oil ratio (cSOR) in thermal-recovery SAGD process. 2012. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 51(04):268-75. https://doi.org/10.2118/137604-PA.
- Butler RM. A new approach to the modelling of steam-assisted gravity drainage. 1985.
  Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 24(03):42-51. https://doi.org/10.2118/85-03-01.

- [15] Walden Z. Canadian Energy Research Institute. Emission abatement potential for the Alberta oil sands industry and carbon capture and storage (CCS) applicability to coalfired electricity generation and oil sands. Available: https://canadacommons.ca/artifacts/1214971/emission-abatement-potential-for-thealberta-oil-sands-industry-and-carbon-capture-and-storage-ccs-applicability-to-coalfired-electricity-generation-and-oil-sands/1768071/. [Accessed: March 2023].
- [16] Nimana B, Canter C, Kumar A. Energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions in the recovery and extraction of crude bitumen from Canada's oil sands. 2015. Applied Energy 143:189-99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.01.024.
- [17] Ashoori S. Routes to lower greenhouse gas emission SAGD operations. 2022. http://hdl.handle.net/1880/114600. [Accessed: May 2023].
- [18] Canada Energy Regulator. Market Snapshot: Trends in In-Situ Bitumen Production. Available: https://www.cer-rec.gc.ca/en/data-analysis/energy-markets/marketsnapshots/2023/market-snapshot-trends-in-situ-bitumen-production.html. [Accessed: June 2023].
- [19] Benjamin Israel. The Pembina Institute. The real GHG trend: Oilsands among the most carbon intensive crudes in North America. Available: https://www.pembina.org/blog/real-ghg-trend-oilsands. [Accessed: April 2023].
- [20] Government of Canada. Greenhouse gas sources and sinks in Canada: Executive summary 2022. Available: https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climatechange/services/climate-change/greenhouse-gas-emissions/sources-sinks-executivesummary-2022.html#toc5. [Accessed: April 2023].

- [21] Government of Alberta. Capping oil sands emissions. Available: https://www.alberta.ca/climate-oilsands-emissions.aspx. [Accessed: August 2022].
- [22] Government of Canada. Options to cap and cut oil and gas sector greenhouse gas emissions to achieve 2030 goals and net-zero by 2050 – discussion document. Available: https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/eccc/documents/pdf/climatechange/oil-gas-emissionscap/Oil%20and%20Gas%20Emissions%20Cap%20Discussion%20Document%20-

%20July%2018%202022\_EN.pdf. [Accessed: March 2023].

- [23] Davis M, Moronkeji A, Ahiduzzaman M, Kumar A. Assessment of renewable energy transition pathways for a fossil fuel-dependent electricity-producing jurisdiction. 2020.
  Energy for Sustainable Development 59:243-61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esd.2020.10.011.
- [24] Nadella NM. Improving energy efficiency in thermal oil recovery surface facilities.
  2010. World Energy Congress, Montreal. https://www.osti.gov/etdeweb/biblio/21397688.
- [25] Soiket MIH, Oni AO, Kumar A. The development of a process simulation model for energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions of a vapor solvent-based oil sands extraction and recovery process. 2019. Energy 173:799-808. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2019.02.109.
- [26] Rezaei N, Mohammadzadeh O, Chatzis I. Improving the performance of vapor extraction of heavy oil and bitumen using the warm VAPEX process. 2010. Canadian Unconventional Resources and International Petroleum Conference All Days. https://doi.org/10.2118/137824-ms.

- [27] Naderi K, Babadagli T. Use of carbon dioxide and hydrocarbon solvents during the method of Steam-Over-Solvent injection in fractured reservoirs for heavy-oil recovery from sandstones and carbonates. 2014. SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering 17(02):286-301. https://doi.org/10.2118/169815-pa.
- [28] Mark Trautman DE, Neil Edmunds, George Taylor, Mauro CIMOLAI. Effective solvent extraction system incorporating electromagnetic heating. 2013. Google Patents. US8616273B2. https://patents.google.com/patent/US8776877.
- [29] Zhao L. Steam alternating solvent process. 2004. SPE International Thermal Operations and Heavy Oil Symposium and Western Regional Meeting. https://doi.org/10.2118/86957-PA.
- [30] Nasr TN, Beaulieu G, Golbeck H, Heck G. Novel expanding solvent-SAGD process
  "ES-SAGD". 2003. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 42(01). https://doi.org/10.2118/03-01-tn.
- [31] Li W, Mamora D, Li Y. Solvent-type and ratio impacts on solvent-aided SAGD process.
  2011. SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering 14:320-31. https://doi.org/10.2118/130802-PA.
- [32] Farouq Ali SM, Abad B. Bitumen recovery from oil sands, using solvents in conjunction with steam. 1976. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 15(03). https://doi.org/10.2118/76-03-11.
- [33] Nasr TN, Ayodele OR. New hybrid steam-solvent processes for the recovery of heavy oil and bitumen. 2006. Abu Dhabi International Petroleum Exhibition and Conference. https://doi.org/10.2118/101717-ms.

- [34] Ayodele OR, Nasr TN, Ivory J, Beaulieu G, Heck G. Testing and history matching ES-SAGD (using Hexane). 2010. SPE Western Regional Meeting. https://doi.org/10.2118/134002-MS.
- [35] Gupta SC, Gittins SD. Christina lake solvent aided process pilot. 2006. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 45(09). https://doi.org/10.2118/06-09-tn.
- [36] Frauenfeld T, Jossy C, Bleile J, Krispin D, Ivory J. Experimental and economic analysis of the thermal solvent and hybrid solvent processes. 2008. Canadian International Petroleum Conference. https://doi.org/10.2118/130445-PA.
- [37] Suranto A, Bae W, Permadi A. An investigation of hybrid steam-solvent injection for increasing economy and reducing CO2 emission. 2015. Petroleum Science and Technology 33(3):302-10. https://doi.org/10.1080/10916466.2014.953683.
- [38] Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers. Economic Contribution to Canada. Available: https://www.capp.ca/economy/canadian-economiccontribution/#:~:text=Oil%20Sands%20and%20Canada's%20Economy,the%20period %202017%20to%202019. [Accessed: December 2021].
- [39] Charpentier AD, Bergerson JA, MacLean HL. Understanding the Canadian oil sands industry's greenhouse gas emissions. 2009. Environmental Research Letters 4(1):014005. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/4/1/014005.
- [40] Moussa T. Performance and economic analysis of SAGD and VAPEX recovery processes. 2019. Arabian Journal for Science and Engineering 44(6):6139-53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13369-018-3665-5.
- [41] Butler R. SAGD comes of age! 1998. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 37(07). https://doi.org/10.2118/98-07-da.

- [42] Al Bahlani AMM, Babadagli T. A critical review of the status of SAGD: where are we and what is next? 2008. SPE Western Regional and Pacific Section AAPG Joint Meeting. https://doi.org/10.2118/113283-MS.
- [43] Jacob's Consultancy. Thermal In Situ Energy Benchmarking Study Report. Available: https://cosia.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/10-Jacobs%20Consultancy%20Thermal%20In%20Situ%20Energy%20Benchmarking%2
   0Study%20Report%20-%20COSIA-14-082.pdf. [Accessed: June 2021].
- [44] Canadian Energy Research Institute. Canadian Oil Sands Supply Costs and Development Projects (2011-2045). Available: https://docs2.cer-rec.gc.ca/lleng/llisapi.dll/fetch/2000/90464/90550/554112/2671288/2758964/2787326/2804084/2 857375/C12-08-03\_Additional\_Written\_Evidence\_of\_the\_Chard\_M%C3%A9tis-Appendix\_2\_-\_A4V6I0.pdf?nodeid=2857054&vernum=-2. [Accessed: February 2021].
- [45] Ashrafi O, Navarri P, Hughes R, Lu D. Heat recovery optimization in a steam-assisted gravity drainage (SAGD) plant. 2016. Energy 111:981-90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2016.06.006.
- [46] Mojarab M, Harding TG, Maini BB. Improving the SAGD performance by introducing a new well configuration. 2011. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 50(04):9-18. https://doi.org/10.2118/146626-PA.
- [47] Das S. Improving the performance of SAGD. 2005. SPE International Thermal Operations and Heavy Oil Symposium. https://doi.org/10.2118/97921-MS.
- [48] Lin L, Ma H, Zeng F, Gu Y. A critical review of the solvent-based heavy oil recovery methods. 2014. SPE heavy oil conference-Canada. https://doi.org/10.2118/170098-MS.

- [49] Toro Monsalve IC, Oni AO, Kumar A. Development of techno-economic models for assessment of solvent-based bitumen extraction technology. 2022. Energy Conversion and Management 253:115142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2021.115142.
- [50] Toro Monsalve IC, Oni AO, Kumar A. Assessment of the solvent-electromagnetic heating-based bitumen extraction technology through techno-economic modelling. 2022. Fuel 320:123847. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.123847.
- [51] Li W, Mamora DD. Phase behavior of steam with solvent coinjection under steam assisted gravity drainage (SAGD) process. 2010. SPE EUROPEC/EAGE Annual Conference and Exhibition. https://doi.org/10.2118/130807-MS.
- [52] Frauenfeld TW, Jossy C, Bleile J, Krispin D, Ivory J. Experimental and cconomic analysis of the thermal solvent and hybrid solvent processes. 2009. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 48(11):55-62. https://doi.org/10.2118/130445-PA.
- [53] Frauenfeld TWJ, Jossy C, Ivory J. Numerical simulation and economic evaluation of hybrid solvent processes. 2010. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 49(07):28-35. https://doi.org/10.2118/139476-PA.
- [54] Liu H, Cheng L, Wu K, Huang S, Meng L. Performance of solvent-assisted thermal drainage process and its relationship to injection parameters: a comprehensive modeling. 2018. Fuel 225:388-402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2018.03.071.
- [55] Huang S, Liu H, Cheng L, Yang Y, Wei S. The relationship of liquid level and subcool between injector and producer during SAGD process. 2017. Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering 153:364-71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.petrol.2017.03.025.
- [56] Liu H, Cheng L, Li C, Xiong H, Xiao P. An investigation into temperature distribution and heat loss rate within the steam chamber in expanding-solvent SAGD process. 2017.

SPE Canada Heavy Oil Technical Conference Day 1 Wed, February 15, 2017. https://doi.org/10.2118/184963-ms.

- [57] Li W, Mamora DD, Li Y. Solvent-type and-ratio impacts on solvent-aided SAGD process. 2011. SPE Reservoir Evaluation & Engineering 14(03):320-31. https://doi.org/10.2118/130802-PA.
- [58] Manfre Jaimes D, Gates ID, Clarke M. Reducing the energy and steam consumption of SAGD through cyclic solvent co-injection. 2019. Energies 12(20):3860. https://doi.org/10.3390/en12203860.
- [59] Gupta S, Gittins S. An investigation into optimal solvent use and the nature of vapor/liquid interface in solvent-aided SAGD process with a semianalytical approach.
  2012. SPE Journal 17(04):1255-64. https://doi.org/10.2118/146671-pa.
- [60] Netzer D. Department of Energy, The Alberta Energy Research Institute and Industry Sponsors. Alberta Bitumen Processing Integration Study. Available: https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/845b43b9-01d8-4431-bbbe-abe0ac05c7f6/resource/a3b7bb6f-0e85-43fe-933d-d8e363ab846f/download/3529601-2006-alberta-bitumen-processing-integration-study-final-report-march-2006.pdf.
  [Accessed: March 2022].
- [61] Safaei M, Oni AO, Gemechu ED, Kumar A. Evaluation of energy and GHG emissions' footprints of bitumen extraction using Enhanced Solvent Extraction Incorporating Electromagnetic Heating technology. 2019. Energy 186:115854. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2019.115854.
- [62] Hyne JB, Clark PD, Clarke RA, Koo J, Greidanus JW, Tyrer JD, et al. Aquathermolysis of heavy oils. 1982. Revista Tecnica INTEVEP 2(2):87-94.

- [63] Nenniger J, Nenniger E. Method and apparatus for stimulating heavy oil production.
  2005. Google Patents. CA2351148A1.
  https://patents.google.com/patent/CA2351148A1/en.
- [64] Bogdanov I, Cambon S, Mujica M, Brisset A. Heavy oil recovery via combination of radio-frequency heating with solvent injection. 2016. SPE Canada Heavy Oil Technical Conference. https://doi.org/10.2118/180709-MS.
- [65] Sit SP. Candor Engineering Ltd. Project Report: COSIA SAGD Reference Facilities. Available: https://cosia.ca/uploads/documents/id42/COSIA%20SAGD%20Reference%20Faciliti es%20Report%202017-03-24.pdf. [Accessed: September 2021].
- [66] COSIA Challenge. Water and energy recovery from flue gas. Available: https://cosia.ca/uploads/files/challenges/ghg/COSIA%20Challenge%20GHG%20-%20Water%20and%20Energy%20Recovery%2016-10-14.pdf. [Accessed: February 2023].
- [67] Bank of Canada. Inflation. Available: https://www.bankofcanada.ca/corefunctions/monetary-policy/inflation/. [Accessed: February 2022].
- [68] Turton R BR, Whiting WB, Shaeiwitz JA and Bhattacharya D. Analysis, synthesis and design of chemical processes. 2012. Pearson Education. https://www.pearson.com/us/higher-education/program/Turton-Analysis-Synthesisand-Design-of-Chemical-Processes-4th-Edition/PGM24825.html. [Accessed: June 2023].
- [69] Collison M, Jaremko D. JWN Media. Suncor Shaves 50 Percent Off Its SAGD WellpadCosts by Embracing Standardization. Available:

79

https://www.jwnenergy.com/article/2015/11/18/well-pad-step-change/. [Accessed: March 2022].

- [70] Peters MS, Timmerhaus KD, West RE. Plant design and economics for chemical engineers. 2003. McGraw-Hill New York. https://www.davuniversity.org/images/files/study-material/PLANT%20DESIGN%20AND%20ECONOMICS%20FOR%20CHEMICA L%20ENGINEERS.pdf. [Accessed: June 2023].
- [71] Sapkota K, Oni AO, Kumar A, Linwei M. The development of a techno-economic model for the extraction, transportation, upgrading, and shipping of Canadian oil sands products to the Asia-Pacific region. 2018. Applied Energy 223:273-92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2018.04.047.
- [72] Verma A, Nimana B, Olateju B, Rahman MM, Radpour S, Canter C, et al. A technoeconomic assessment of bitumen and synthetic crude oil transport (SCO) in the Canadian oil sands industry: Oil via rail or pipeline? 2017. Energy 124:665-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2017.02.057.
- [73] EPCOR. Multi-Residential and Commercial Rates. Available: https://www.epcor.com/products-services/water/rates-termsconditions/Pages/commercial-multi-residential-rates.aspx. [Accessed: March 2022].
- [74] ChemAnalyst. n-Hexane Price Trend and Forecast. Available: https://www.chemanalyst.com/Pricing-data/n-hexane-1151. [Accessed: December 2021].
- [75] ChemAnalyst. ChemAnalyst. Track Real-Time Price Movement of 250+ Chemical and Petrochemical Products for Informed Purchase Decisions. Available:

80

https://www.chemanalyst.com/Pricing-data/mono-ethylene-glycol-4. [Accessed: December 2021].

- [76] Spackman B. GLJ. Understanding Bitumen Pricing. Available: https://www.gljpc.com/blog/understanding-bitumen-pricing. [Accessed: August 2021].
- [77] Canada Energy Regulator. Canada Energy Regulator. Macro Indicators. Available: https://doi.org/10.35002/zjr8-8x75. [Accessed: September 2021].
- [78] Alberta Go. Government of Alberta. Occupations in Alberta. Available: https://alis.alberta.ca/occinfo/occupations-in-alberta/occupation-profiles/snubbingservices-operators-and-supervisors/. [Accessed: October 2021].
- [79] Tribe MA, Alpine RLW. Scale economies and the "0.6 rule". 1986. Engineering Costs and Production Economics 10(4):271-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-188X(86)80025-8.
- [80] Di Lullo G, Gemechu E, Oni AO, Kumar A. Extending sensitivity analysis using regression to effectively disseminate life cycle assessment results. 2020. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment 25(2):222-39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-019-01674-y.
- [81] Alberta Innovates. Anual Impact Report: Health. Available: https://albertainnovates.ca/app/uploads/2018/02/Alberta-Innovates-Health-Impact-Report.pdf. [Accessed: January 2022].
- [82] Oil Sands Magazine. Process Overview: From the Ground to Your Gas Tank. Available: https://www.oilsandsmagazine.com/news/2022/4/11/process-overview-bitumenextraction-dilution-upgrading-refining. [Accessed: December 2021].

- [83] S&P Global. Canadian oil sands diluent demand: A 750,000 b/d market. Available: https://www.spglobal.com/commodityinsights/en/ci/research-analysis/canadian-oilsands-diluent-demand.html. [Accessed: November 2021].
- [84] Verdict Media Limited. Hangingstone SAGD Project, Alberta. Available: https://www.hydrocarbons-technology.com/projects/hangingstone-sagd-projectalberta/#:~:text=It%20has%20a%20production%20capacity,than%2080%2C000%20b arrels%20a%20day. [Accessed: January 2022].
- [85] Bergerson JA, Kofoworola O, Charpentier AD, Sleep S, MacLean HL. Life cycle greenhouse gas emissions of current oil sands technologies: surface mining and in situ applications. 2012. Environmental Science & Technology 46(14):7865-74. https://doi.org/10.1021/es300718h.
- [86] Chen J. Investopedia. West Texas Intermediate (WTI). Available: https://www.investopedia.com/terms/w/wti.asp. [Accessed: December 2021].
- [87] Oil Sands Magazine. Western Canadian Select Explained. Available: https://www.oilsandsmagazine.com/technical/western-canadian-select-wcs. [Accessed: November 2021].
- [88] Government of Alberta. Oil Prices. Available: https://economicdashboard.alberta.ca/OilPrice. [Accessed: February 2022].
- [89] Nenniger JE, Dunn SG. How fast is solvent based gravity drainage? 2008. Canadian International Petroleum Conference. https://doi.org/10.2118/2008-139.
- [90] Ordorica-Garcia G, Carbo M, Bolea I, Nikoo M. Technology options and integration concepts for implementing CO2 capture in oil sands operations. 2012. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 51:362-75. https://doi.org/10.2118/137808-PA.

- [91] Orellana A, Laurenzi IJ, MacLean HL, Bergerson JA. Statistically enhanced model of in situ oil sands extraction operations: an evaluation of variability in greenhouse gas emissions. 2018. Environmental Science & Technology 52(3):947-54. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b04498.
- [92] Government of Canada. Greenhouse gas sources and sinks in Canada: Executive summary 2022. Available: https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climatechange/services/climate-change/greenhouse-gas-emissions/sources-sinks-executivesummary-2022.html. [Accessed: September 2022].
- [93] Betancourt-Torcat A, Elkamel A, Ricardez-Sandoval L. Optimal integration of nuclear energy and water management into the oil sands operations. 2012. AlChe Journal 58(11):3433-53. https://doi.org/10.1002/aic.13736.
- [94] Kraemer D, Bajpayee A, Muto A, Berube V, Chiesa M. Solar assisted method for recovery of bitumen from oil sand. 2009. Applied Energy 86(9):1437-41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2008.12.003.
- [95] Charry-Sanchez J, Betancourt-Torcat A, Almansoori A. Energy production from oil sands.
  2018. Elsevier.
  https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128095973003394.
  [Accessed: June 2023].
- [96] Butler RM, Mokrys IJ. A new process (VAPEX) for recovering heavy oils using hot water and hydrocarbon vapour. 1991. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 30(01). https://doi.org/10.2118/91-01-09.

- [97] Li D, Saraji S, Jiao Z, Zhang Y. CO2 injection strategies for enhanced oil recovery and geological sequestration in a tight reservoir: An experimental study. 2021. Fuel 284:119013. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2020.119013.
- [98] Kasevich RS. Method and apparatus for in-situ radiofrequency assisted gravity drainage of oil (RAGD). 2008. KSN Energies LLC. Google Patents. US7441597B2. https://patents.google.com/patent/US7441597.
- [99] Trautman M, Ehresman D, Edmunds N, Taylor G, CIMOLAI M. Effective solvent extraction system incorporating electromagnetic heating. 2010. Harris Corp. Google Patents. US8776877B2. https://patents.google.com/patent/US8776877.
- [100] Nasr TN, Beaulieu G, Golbeck H, Heck G. Novele expanding Solvent-SAGD process
  "ES-SAGD". 2003. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 42(01). https://doi.org/10.2118/03-01-tn.
- [101] Edmunds N, Moini B, Peterson J. Advanced solvent-additive processes by genetic optimization. 2010. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 49(09):34-41. https://doi.org/10.2118/140659-PA.
- [102] Ghasemi M, Whitson CH. Numerical investigation and integrated optimization of Solvent-SAGD process. 2014. International Petroleum Technology Conference. https://doi.org/10.2523/IPTC-18033-MS.
- [103] Redford DA, McKay AS. Hydrocarbon-steam processes for recovery of bitumen from oil sands. 1980. SPE/DOE Enhanced Oil Recovery Symposium All Days. https://doi.org/10.2118/8823-ms.

- [104] Liu H, Cheng L, Li C, Xiong H, Xiao P. An investigation into temperature distribution and heat loss rate within the steam chamber in Expanding-Solvent SAGD process. 2017. https://doi.org/10.2118/184963-MS.
- [105] Todd C. Diluent and bitumen, an uneasy mix : considerations for treating, blending, transportation, marketing and refining. 2009. Proceedings of the 5 NCUT Upgrading and Refining Conference 2009: Bitumen, Synthetic Crude Oil and Heavy Oil. http://inis.iaea.org/search/search.aspx?orig\_q=RN:40108423.
- [106] Candor Engineering Ltd. COSIA SAGD reference facilities. Prepared by SP Sit. Available: https://cosia.ca/uploads/documents/id42/COSIA%20SAGD%20Reference%20Faciliti es%20Report%202017-03-24.pdf. [Accessed: December 2022].
- [107] Hassan M, Vafi K, Duffy J, McNally S, Brandta AR. Oil production greenhouse gas emissions estimator. 2014. OPGEE v1. 1 Draft E. https://pangea.stanford.edu/departments/ere/dropbox/EAO/OPGEE/OPGEE\_documen tation\_v1.1b.pdf.
- [108] Wang M. The greenhouse gases, regulated emissions, and energy use in transportation (GREET) model: Version 1.5. 2008. Center for Transportation Research, Argonne National Laboratory. http://eng.sut.ac.th/transportenergy/data/paper4web/The%20GHG%20regulated%20e mission%20and%20energy%20use%20in%20transportation%20model%20-%2099.pdf.
- [109] Hammar T. Climate impacts of woody biomass use for heat and power production in Sweden. 2017. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.18588.80008.

- [110] Oni AO, Anaya K, Giwa T, Di Lullo G, Kumar A. Comparative assessment of blue hydrogen from steam methane reforming, autothermal reforming, and natural gas decomposition technologies for natural gas-producing regions. 2022. Energy Conversion and Management 254:115245. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2022.115245.
- [111] Metz B. Carbon dioxide capture and storage: special report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. 2005. Cambridge University Press. https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/03/srccs\_wholereport.pdf. [Accessed: June 2023].
- [112] Farzaneh-Gord M, Arabkoohsar A, Deymi Dasht-bayaz M, Farzaneh-Kord V.
  Feasibility of accompanying uncontrolled linear heater with solar system in natural gas pressure drop stations. 2012. Energy 41(1):420-8.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2012.02.058.
- [113] Cóndor RD, Valli L, De Rosa G, Di Francia A, De Lauretis R. Estimation of the methane emission factor for the Italian Mediterranean buffalo. 2008. Animal: An International Journal of Animal Bioscience 2(8):1247-53. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1751731108002292.
- [114] Akagi S, Yokelson R, Wiedinmyer C, Alvarado M, Reid J, Karl T, et al. Emission factors for open and domestic biomass burning for use in atmospheric models. 2010.
  Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 10(11):27523-602. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-11-4039-2011.

- [115] Spork CC, Chavez A, Gabarrell Durany X, Patel MK, Villalba Méndez G. Increasing precision in greenhouse gas accounting using real-time emission factors: A case study of electricity in Spain. 2015. Journal of Industrial Ecology 19(3):380-90.
- [116] Canada Energy Regulator. Provincial and territorial energy profiles Alberta. Available: https://www.cer-rec.gc.ca/en/data-analysis/energy-markets/provincialterritorial-energy-profiles/provincial-territorial-energy-profilesalberta.html#:~:text=About%2089%25%20of%20electricity%20in,and%2054%25%2 0from%20natural%20gas. [Accessed: 2023 March].
- [117] Parker Hannifin. Natural Gas Combined Cycle Power Plants: History, Trends and Outlook. Available: https://blog.parker.com/site/usa/details-home-page/natural-gascombined-cycle-power-plants-history-trends-and-outlook-us. [Accessed: June 2023].
- [118] Solid Fuels Sub-Working Group. Clean Fuel Steering Committee. Solid biomass fuels in Canada's low carbon energy future. Available: https://www.pellet.org/images/solidfuels.pdf. [Accessed: November 2022].
- [119] Vakkilainen EK. 3 Boiler Processes. 2017. Butterworth-Heinemann. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780128043899000034.
   [Accessed: May 2023].
- [120] MacKay K, Lavoie M, Bourlon E, Atherton E, O'Connell E, Baillie J, et al. Methane emissions from upstream oil and gas production in Canada are underestimated. 2021.
   Sci Rep 11(1):8041. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-87610-3.
- [121] GHG Working Group COSIA. GTI Project Number 22072. Advanced steam generation: technologies for Canadian oil sands. Available: https://cosia.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/COSIA%20Advanced%20Steam%20Ge

neration%20-%20Technologies%20for%20Canadian%20Oil%20Sands.pdf. [Accessed: May 2023].

- [122] Yuan J-Y, Nugent D. Subcool, fluid productivity, and liquid level above a SAGD producer. 2013. Journal of Canadian Petroleum Technology 52(05):360-7. https://doi.org/10.2118/157899-pa.
- [123] International Energy Agency. IEA Energy Technology Essentials. Biomass for power generation and CHP. Available: https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/1028bee0-2da1-4d68-8b0a-9e5e03e93690/essentials3.pdf. [Accessed: December 2022].
- [124] Mcfarland K. SynTech Bioenergy, LLC. Biomass advantages and disadvantages. Available: https://www.syntechbioenergy.com/blog/biomass-advantagesdisadvantages. [Accessed: May 2023].

# Appendix



Figure A1: Aspen flowsheet of oil treatment unit



Figure A2: Aspen flowsheet of de-oiling unit



Figure A3: Aspen flowsheet of water treatment unit



Figure A4: Aspen flowsheet of heating unit


Figure A5: Aspen flowsheet of vapor recovery unit



Figure A6: Aspen flowsheet of fuel gas unit